

Review of evidence

Fish, fish oils, n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and cardiovascular health

David Colquhoun MBBS FRACP^a Antonio Ferreira-Jardim BA(Hons)b Tuesday Udell MSc^c Barbara Eden MA(Educ), MSc(Nut & Diet) APD^c and the Nutrition and Metabolism Committee of the Heart Foundation

1300 36 27 87 www.heartfoundation.org.au

August 2008 PRO-059

^a School of Medicine, University of Queensland, Greenslopes and Wesley Hospitals, Brisbane, Australia ^b University of Queensland, Core Research Group, Brisbane, Australia

^cNational Heart Foundation of Australia

Contents

	Page
Heart Foundation recommendations	4
All adult Australians	
Women who are planning pregnancy, pregnant or breastfeeding, and claustralians with documented CHD	
Australians with lipid abnormalities	
Summary of the evidence	6
Levels of evidence for clinical interventions	7
Background	8
Fish consumption in Australia	
Epidemiological studies	10
Intervention studies in healthy individuals and patients	13
Fish oil supplementation and mortality	
Fish oil supplementation and susceptibility to ventricular tachycardia/fibrilla	ation 13
Fish consumption, fish oil supplementation and atherosclerosis	
Fish oil supplementation and atrial fibrillation	
Fish oil supplementation and heart rate variability	
Fish oil supplementation, infarction size and angina	
Dietary advice about fish consumption—DART and DART-2	
Ongoing clinical trials	17
Systematic reviews and meta-analyses	18
Mechanisms responsible for the protective effects of marine n-3 PUFA	
on CHD	
Membrane effects	
Effect on lipid profile	
Interaction effects of fish oil supplementation with fibrates and statins	
Inflammation	
Leptin	
Platelets and coagulation	25
Alpha-linolenic acid (ALA)	26
Docosapentaenoic acid (DPA)	28
Marine n-3 PUFA and other conditions	29
Risks and cautions associated with fish consumption and fish oil	
supplementation	
Mercury	30

Mercury in fish oil supplements	
Dioxins and PCBs	32
Ciguatera	
Olguatora	
Variability of marine n-3 PUFA content in fish	35
Sustainability of fish stocks	36
Cooking	37
Daily requirements of marine n-3 PUFA	38
Australian recommendations	
USA recommendations	38
Further research: Omega-3 Index	40
Conclusions	41
Epidemiological studies	41
Intervention studies	41
Systematic reviews and meta-analyses	41
Risks and cautions	41
Terminology and abbreviations	42
Acknowledgements	44
Appendix 1	45
Appendix 2	53
References	54

© 2008 National Heart Foundation of Australia ABN 98 008 419 761

This work is copyright. No part may be reproduced in any form or language without prior written permission from the National Heart Foundation of Australia (national office). Enquiries concerning permissions should be directed to copyright@heartfoundation.org.au.

Disclaimer: This document has been produced by the National Heart Foundation of Australia for the information of health professionals. The statements and recommendations it contains are, unless labelled as 'expert opinion', based on independent review of the available evidence. Interpretation of this document by those without appropriate medical and/or clinical training is not recommended, other than at the request of, or in consultation with, a relevant health professional.

Heart Foundation recommendations

All adult Australians

To lower their risk of coronary heart disease (CHD), all adult Australians should:

- 1. Consume about 500 mg per day of combined docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) through a combination of the following:
- two or three serves (150 g serve) of oily fish per week
- fish oil capsules or liquid
- food and drink enriched with marine n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid (n-3 PUFA).
- 2. Consume at least 2 g per day of alpha-linolenic acid (ALA).
- 3. Follow government advice on fish consumption regarding local safety issues.
- 4. Discus healthy eating and concerns about nutrition with an Accredited Practising Dietitian or a doctor.

People should look for foods and drinks with added omega-3s in their local supermarkets. For food and drinks containing ALA, see Appendix 2, Table 1.

Women who are planning pregnancy, pregnant or breastfeeding, and children

Women who are planning pregnancy, pregnant or breastfeeding, and children should:

- 1. Follow the Heart Foundation's recommendations for the adult Australian population.
- 2. Not exceed the recommended doses of fish and fish oil supplements.
- 3. Follow the advice from Food Standards Australia and New Zealand on mercury in fish.

Adult Australians with documented CHD

To lower their risk of further disease progression, Australian adults with documented CHD should:

- 1. Consume about 1000 mg per day of combined DHA and EPA through a combination of the following:
- two or three serves (150 g serve) of oily fish per week
- fish oil capsules or liquid
- food and drink enriched with marine n-3 PUFA.
- 2. Consume at least 2 g per day of ALA.
- 3. Follow government advice on fish consumption regarding local safety issues.
- 4. Discuss healthy eating and concerns about nutrition with an Accredited Practising Dietitian or a doctor.

People should look for foods and drinks with added omega-3s in their local supermarkets. For food and drinks containing ALA, see Appendix 2, Table 1.

Australians with lipid abnormalities

For Australian's with elevated triglyceride (TG) levels, first-line therapy could be fish oil capsules or liquid and marine n-3 PUFA enriched foods and drink. They should:

- start with a dose of 1200 mg per day of DHA and EPA; and if appropriate
- increase the dose to 4000 mg per day of DHA and EPA and check their response every 3 to 4 weeks when the dose is changed, until target TG levels are reached.
- 2. Discuss healthy eating and concerns about nutrition with an Accredited Practising Dietitian or a doctor.

Summary of the evidence

Evidence	Level of evidence	Studies
Individuals with a higher intake of fish have a lower risk of CHD mortality, total CHD and total stroke.	III-2	1-3
Consuming fish at least once a week is associated with a lower risk of total stroke and CHD mortality in the general population and post- myocardial infarction (MI) patients.	III-2	1-5
In secondary prevention, a diet with 2 g/day of ALA decreases the risk of CHD.	II	6-8
In secondary prevention ≥ 850 mg/day marine n-3 PUFA supplementation reduces the risk of CHD mortality, and ≥1800 mg/day reduces major coronary events.	II	9-11
In secondary prevention, there is conflicting evidence about the effect of marine n-3 PUFA supplementation on the risk of sudden death in patients.	n/a	9,12-16
Marine n-3 PUFA supplementation of 1000-4000 mg/day decreases serum triglyceride levels by 25-30% and increases high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol levels by 1-3%. A dose relationship exists between intake of marine n-3 PUFA and decreased serum triglyceride levels.	I	17-19
Marine n-3 PUFA has an additive effect to statin therapy in decreasing serum triglyceride levels and increasing HDL cholesterol.	II	20-26
Consuming fish with high levels of methylmercury may result in long-term neurological damage. Gestational exposure to methylmercury may result in neurodevelopmental deficits.	III-3	27
The consumption of oily fish twice a week promotes cardiovascular health without excessive exposure to mercury.	III-1	28,29
There is inconclusive evidence supporting a relationship between mercury exposure and incidence of cardiovascular disease.	n/a	30
Fish oil capsules available in Australia have zero or near zero methylmercury content.	IV	31
Fish oil capsules in Australia contain very low levels of dioxins (polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB)).	IV	32

Levels of evidence for clinical interventions

The following NHRMC levels of evidence have been used to rate the evidence presented in this paper.

Level of evidence	Study design
1	Evidence obtained from a systematic review of all relevant randomised controlled trials
II	Evidence obtained from at least one properly designed randomised controlled trial
III-1	Evidence obtained from well-designed pseudo-randomised controlled trials (alternate allocation or some other method)
III-2	Evidence obtained from comparative studies with concurrent controls and non-randomised allocation, cohort studies, case-control studies, or interrupted time series with a control group
III-3	Evidence obtained from comparative studies with historical control, two or more single-arm studies, or interrupted time series without a parallel control group
IV	Evidence obtained from case series, either post-test or pre-test and post-test data

Source: 300

Background

Since the National Heart Foundation of Australia's (Heart Foundation's) *Review of the relationship between dietary fat and cardiovascular disease* in 1999, ³³ new findings have been published internationally regarding the benefits of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (n-3 PUFA) in preventing and treating cardiovascular disease (CVD), particularly CHD. The American Heart Association (AHA) has found this data compelling enough to release a position statement that recommends levels of fish intake and specific marine n-3 PUFA (DHA, EPA and docosapentaenoic acid (DPA)) intake.^{34,35} Similarly, in a recent report, a joint expert consultation of the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) and the World Health Organization (WHO) recommended an intake of 1-2 servings of fish (where each serving is defined as providing 200-500 mg/week DHA and EPA) as protective against CHD and ischaemic stroke.³⁶

Guidelines released by the US Department of Health and Human Services noted that consuming two servings of fish a week (8 oz or 230 g/week) may reduce the risk of CHD mortality.³⁷ In 2006, the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) issued *Nutrient reference values for Australia and New Zealand Including Recommended Dietary Intakes*,³⁸ which recommended an intake of combined DHA, EPA and DPA of 610 mg/day for men and 430 mg/day for women to prevent chronic disease. Food Standards Australia and New Zealand (FSANZ) introduced a nutrition claim for foods containing qualifying levels of n-3 PUFA in their 2000 revision of the Food Standards Code.³⁹ It plans to allow a general level claim for n-3 and cardiovascular health with the introduction of the anticipated health claims policy for foods.⁴⁰

Seafood is an excellent source of protein and oils. Seafood-derived oils are rich in marine n-3 PUFA, particularly DHA and EPA. Algae are the primary producers of DHA and EPA in the ecosystem. Fish consume algae and are therefore rich in DHA and EPA. Long chain fatty acids (FA) are defined as containing 12- to 26-carbon (possibly more) atoms in a chain.⁴¹ Terrestrial sources rich in n-3 PUFA include flaxseed, canola, walnut and soybean oils, which contain the 18-carbon ALA as the major n-3 PUFA.

In humans, ALA is an essential PUFA because it cannot be synthesised *in vivo* or from other PUFA in the diet. ^{42,43} Deficiency is associated with sensory neuropathy, impaired visual activity and learning deficiency. ⁴⁴ DHA and EPA can reverse n-3 PUFA deficiency. DHA is the most abundant n-3 PUFA in tissues and is generally considered to be the most essential n-3 PUFA. ⁴² n-3 PUFA are present in all membranes and are incorporated into phospholipids, sphingolipids and plasmogens. ⁴⁵ They are also most concentrated in sperm, brain and retina. DHA is several hundred times more abundant than EPA in the brain and retina cells. In adipose tissue, ALA is the most abundant n-3 PUFA, although it comprises only about 1% of FA in this tissue. ⁴⁵

There is compelling evidence supporting the clinical benefits of fish consumption and the intake of marine n-3 PUFA. The favourable effects were attributed initially to EPA, but it is now clear that DHA has at least equally important cardio-protective effects ^{46,47} and may be more important than EPA for beneficial cardiovascular effects. Other n-3 PUFAs, such as the 22-carbon DPA and ALA, may also be important for cardiovascular health, but there are considerably fewer scientific studies to evaluate. Evidence supporting these benefits is derived from population studies, randomised

controlled trials and new information on the mechanisms of action of these nutrients. Additionally, there has been renewed interest in the potential toxicity of seafood (includes crustaceans, molluscs and other species) because of heavy metal or pesticide contamination, and microbial infection.

Fish consumption in Australia

Using recent databases, a recalculation of the 1995 Australian National Nutrition Survey (NNS) indicated that the Australian average intake of marine n-3 PUFA is 246 mg/day comprising 75, 71 and 100 mg/day from EPA, DPA and DHA, respectively. Seafood is the main source of marine n-3 PUFA in the Australian diet, with lean meat also a major source—particularly of DPA. 49,50

The consumption of fish and other seafood varies across Australia. The 1995 NNS estimated that less than 10% of the population consumed more than 500 mg/day of marine n-3 PUFA. The Fisheries Research and Development Corporation (a body of the Australian Government's Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry) collected data on fish and seafood consumption in Sydney, Perth and Melbourne. In 1998–1999, the mean adult intake of total seafood was 250–300 g/week in Sydney and Perth. In 2005, the mean intake was 10–15% less in Melbourne than the earlier estimates in Sydney and Perth. Shark and flathead, which are low in marine n-3 PUFA, were the leading fish products consumed in Sydney. The ratio of fin fish (those with fins) to seafood (crustaceans, molluscs and other marine species) consumed is about 2:1. This is equivalent to 1 ½–2 serves/week of reasonably low-level marine n-3 PUFA seafood.

Epidemiological studies

Modern industrialised societies are characterised by a high intake of saturated, omega-6 PUFA and trans fatty acids, and a low intake of n-3 PUFA. The ratio of n-6:n-3 in the Palaeolithic period has been estimated as 0.79, which is similar to that in Crete before 1960. In contrast, in the USA and Northern Europe, the ratio is currently about 15:1. So.56 Both the absolute amount of n-3 PUFA (especially marine n-3 PUFA) and the n-6:n-3 ratio seem to be important for health.

More than a dozen studies in populations with a moderate to high prevalence of CHD have confirmed the findings from early studies of Chinese and Greenland Eskimos: a high intake of fish is associated with low CHD mortality. ^{58,59}

An inverse relationship between fish consumption and CHD was documented in China nearly four decades ago. The Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences in Beijing noted that the lowest incidence of CHD was in fishermen from the Choushan archipelago. ⁶⁰ Nomads consuming predominantly animal fat in Xinjiang province had an eight times higher incidence of CHD than the average population. ⁶¹ The beneficial association between fish intake and low rates of CHD in China was confirmed in the prospective study from Shanghai, ⁶² which involved 18,224 subjects over 12 years.

At about the same time as the Chinese studies, Bang and Dyerberg's studies of Greenland Eskimos also suggested that seafood, rich in marine n-3 PUFA, prevents CHD and stroke. Their seminal studies, coupled with the emerging understanding of prostaglandin metabolism, opened up a new research area.

The Seven Countries Study of Japan, USA, Greece, Finland, Italy, Netherlands and Yugoslavia ⁶⁶ found a strong inverse association between the consumption of PUFA and CHD. The study found that people living on Crete consumed a relatively high fat intake (40% of daily energy as fat) but had a low rate of CHD. This was attributed partly to their intake of fish (and thus marine n-3 PUFA), which is 30 times higher than in the USA. ⁶⁷ Other sources of n-3 PUFA in Crete are wild plants (rich in ALA) and free-range animal products (rich in ALA, DHA, DPA and EPA).

The two Japanese cohorts from the Seven Countries study had low intakes of n-6 PUFA and high intakes of n-3 PUFA from vegetables (cohort of farmers) and fish (cohort of fishermen). The Cretan and Japanese cohorts had low n-6:n-3 ratios diets and extraordinarily low CHD mortality rates that were less than 5% of the rates of the cohort of railroad workers from the USA. Compared with no (or a very low) intake, a modest intake of fatty fish and marine n-3 PUFA from seafood equivalent to one serve (200 g) of fish a week was associated with a 40–50% reduction in risk of sudden death.

A recently published cohort study⁷⁰ compared fish and marine n-3 PUFA intakes in 4949 men and women aged 40-79 years from Norfolk, England. n-3 PUFA plasma concentration was 20% higher in fish oil consumers than in non-fish oil consumers, and was twice as high in people who consumed fatty fish than in those who consumed any type of fish. The concentration of total n-3 PUFA was significantly higher in women (7.96 mol% \pm 2.46 mol%) than in men (7.81 mol% \pm 2.44 mol%). Importantly, the same results were found when diet was analysed by four different methods (food frequency, two dietary recall tools, and a health and lifestyle questionnaire).

Because men and women consumed the same amount of fish in the Norfolk study, the authors proposed that the lower concentration of total n-3 PUFA in men related to their larger body size and plasma volume, and possibly to hormonal differences. To Interestingly, only 20–25% of the variation in marine n-3 PUFA levels was explained by marine n-3 PUFA intake. The mechanism that accounts for the underlying residual concentration of n-3 PUFA in the absence of marine n-3 PUFA consumption remains unknown. The authors concluded that men should consume more marine n-3 PUFA to achieve the same blood n-3 PUFA concentration as women.

In contrast, a recent Danish epidemiological study⁷¹ of 4513 men and 3984 women aged 30–70 years showed no relationship between fish consumption and all-cause mortality or incidence of CHD. People eating fish less than once a week had lower all-cause mortality (hazard ratio (HR), 0.88, 95% CI, 0.76–1.02) compared with those eating fish twice or more a week (HR, 1.06; 95% CI, 0.88–1.28). However, frequent fish consumption was not significantly related to death from all causes either before or after adjustment for confounding factors. In the high-risk CHD group, all-cause mortality seemed to increase with fish intake. It is unknown whether the most common modes of preparation and cooking fish, which included added fat, affected the results. The authors queried whether the study was sufficiently powered in the high-risk group in terms of outcome events. They also noted that they could not exclude an effect of other possible confounding factors correlated with fish intake, such as genetic disposition in the high-risk group or the fish preparation method.

The Japan Public Health Center-based (JPHC) Study Cohort I⁷² followed 41,578 Japanese men and women aged 40–59 years who were free of clinical CVD. Data was collected from 1990 to 1992, and in 2001. The hazard ratio (HR) was 0.63 (95% CI, 0.38–1.04) for total CHD and 0.44 (95% CI, 0.24–0.81) for definite MI in people with the highest quintile of fish intake (8 times/week or median intake 180 g/day) compared with the lowest quintile (once/week or median intake 23 g/day—below the mean adult Australian intake). Dietary intake of marine n-3 PUFA was inversely correlated with the risks of MI (HR, 0.35; CI, 0.18–0.66) and non-fatal coronary events (HR, 0.33; CI, 0.17–0.63).

An epidemiological study of another Japanese cohort⁷³ (NIPPON DATA80 study) did not show any benefit of very high fish consumption. This 19-year study of 3945 men and 4934 women was considerably smaller than the JPHC study. Multivariate Cox analyses showed no differences between people who ate fish more than twice a day and those who ate fish 1–2 times/week in all-cause mortality (relative risk (RR), 0.99; 95% CI, 0.77–1.27), stroke (RR, 1.26; 95% CI, 0.70–2.29) or CHD mortality (RR, 0.91; 95% CI, 0.35–2.35). Few participants consumed fish less than once a week. The results of this study are consistent with previous epidemiological data, suggesting a threshold in the protective effect of fish consumption once or twice a week compared with little or no fish consumption.

The Cardiovascular Health Study⁷⁴ examined fish consumption and stroke risk in 4775 adults aged 65 years with no history of CVD. Consumption of tuna or broiled or baked fish was inversely associated with total stroke (P = 0.04) and ischemic stroke (P = 0.02). An intake of fish 1–4 times/week was associated with a 27% lower risk of ischaemic stroke (multivariate HR, 0.73; 95% CI, 0.55–0.98). Eating fish five or more times a week was associated with a 30% lower risk of stroke compared with eating fish less than once per month (HR, 0.70; 95% CI, 0.50–0.99).

A prospective population-based cohort study of the relationship between fish consumption and mortality in 3910 adults who were free of disease at the onset found a significant inverse association between fish consumption and death due to

ischaemic heart disease (IHD) and arrhythmic IHD (both P < 0.001). However, it found no association between fish consumption and the incidence of non-fatal MI. Compared with the consumption of fish once a month or less, consumption of tuna or broiled or baked fish three or more times a week was associated with a 49% decrease in the incidence of IHD death and a 58% decrease in the incidence of arrhythmic IHD.

A 1999 study in Japan, 76 involving one of the communities in the Seven Countries Study, demonstrated an inverse relationship between carotid intima—media thickness (IMT) and intake of DHA and EPA (P < 0.01 for trend).

Intervention studies in healthy individuals and patients

Intervention studies in healthy individuals and in patients show several beneficial effects of fish oil supplementation or regular fish consumption, including lower rates of mortality, CHD and sudden death. They also show favourable changes in blood lipid concentrations, symptoms of CHD (for example, angina) and cardiac electrophysiological properties.

Fish oil supplementation and mortality

The Gruppo Italiano per lo Studio della Sopravvivenza nell'Infarto Miocardico Prevenzione (GISSI-P) trial was a high-quality study and the first large intervention CHD endpoint trial that assessed marine n-3 supplementation. It involved 11,324 post-MI patients and showed clear cardiac benefits of marine n-3 PUFA supplementation. After 3 ½ years, the intake of a fish oil capsule (850–880 mg marine n-3 PUFA; EPA/DHA 2:1 ratio) was associated with a 20% reduction in mortality and 45% reduction in sudden death. Further analysis demonstrated that marine n-3 PUFA consumption was associated with a 53% decrease in sudden death during the first four months after MI. The benefit was greatest in patients with a high risk of sudden death and those who adhered closely to the intervention. The dramatic reduction in sudden death in the GISSI-P trial is consistent with epidemiological studies and with the anti-arrhythmic properties of marine n-3 PUFA demonstrated in animals and humans. Ta,79

The Kansas Study⁸⁰ compared 2870 individuals who took marine n-3 PUFA supplements with 27,811 who did not take marine n-3 PUFA supplements. Participants included healthy individuals and patients with CHD, who were followed from 1998 to 2005. The endpoint was all-cause mortality. During the follow-up, more patients who were not taking supplements (11%) died that those who were taking supplements (4.0%; P < 0.001). The same relative benefit occurred regardless of the presence or absence of CHD at baseline.

A recent analysis of the GISSI-P trial data examined the effect of marine n-3 PUFA on post-MI patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction. ¹⁴ Marine n-3 supplementation reduced mortality in patients with (RR, 0.76; 95% CI, 0.60–0.96; P = 0.02) and without (RR, 0.81; 95% CI, 0.59–1.10; P = 0.17) left ventricular systolic dysfunction. Interestingly, marine n-3 PUFA supplementation strongly reduced the risk of sudden death in post-MI patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction (RR 0.42; 95% CI, 0.26–0.67; P = 0.0003) but did not significantly reduce the risk of sudden death in patients with an ejection fraction > 50%. The authors recommended further research to examine the effect of marine n-3 PUFA on populations with left ventricular systolic dysfunction.

Fish oil supplementation and susceptibility to ventricular tachycardia/fibrillation

The lipid composition of cell membranes can be modified by diet. Marine n-3 supplementation alters myocardial responsiveness to beta-adrenoceptor receptor stimulation and therefore vulnerability to ventricular tachycardia/fibrillation.⁸¹

In a multi-centre trial of 200 patients, marine n-3 PUFA supplementation failed to prevent sudden death in patients with cardiomyopathy. ¹⁶ In these patients, ventricular fibrillation (VF) was related to 'irritable ventricular foci' and not ischaemia. Patients were randomised to receive either 1800 mg/day of marine n-3 PUFA or placebo and were followed up for about two years. Recurrent ventricular tachycardia (VT) or VF events occurred more frequently in patients randomised to receive marine n-3 PUFA (P < 0.001). Post hoc analysis of the time between the first VT and first VF showed a trend toward an increased risk of VT in patients assigned to marine n-3 PUFA but no apparent affect on the risk of VF. The authors concluded that in this study n-3 PUFA supplementation may be pro-arrhythmic in some patients.

The recently completed study on omega-3 fatty acids (FA) and ventricular arrhythmia^{12,13} also did not show clear benefit of supplementation with marine n-3 PUFA on prevention of sudden death in patients with an implantable cardioverter defibrillator (ICD). After one year, 30% of patients in the marine n-3 PUFA group had a life-threatening arrhythmia compared with 33% in the placebo group. In patients with previous MI, 28% of the patients on marine n-3 PUFA had an event compared with 35% on placebo, although this difference was not significant. The absolute risk reduction of life-threatening arrhythmias is consistent with data from previous trials, such as GISSI-P and Japan EPA Lipid Intervention Study (JELIS),¹⁰ which had adequate power to detect a risk reduction of 2% or more.

Non-invasive electrophysiological testing was performed in 10 men with ICDs who had VT at pre-implant testing and repeated episodes of VT. Seven of the 10 patients had monomorphic sustained VT induced. Five of these patients were rendered non-inducible after an intravenous infusion of 3.8 g of n-3 PUFA.⁸²

Fish consumption, fish oil supplementation and atherosclerosis

Two human angiographic trials compared the effects of marine n-3 PUFA supplementation and placebo on progression of CHD, determined by repeat coronary angiography. The first study⁸³ involved 59 patients given either 6000 mg/day of marine n-3 PUFA or olive oil for two years. It found no benefit of marine n-3 PUFA supplementation. A larger, more recent trial¹¹ of 223 patients randomised to receive either placebo or 3000 mg/day of marine n-3 PUFA for three months and then 1500 mg/day for 21 months found less progression and more regression of angiographic CHD (P = 0.04) compared with a placebo group.

A three-year follow-up of 50 British men with coronary artery disease (CAD) demonstrated no association between dietary marine n-3 PUFA and absolute width of coronary segments examined with angiography. ⁸⁴ In contrast, fish intake had a beneficial effect after 3.2 years in 229 women who participated in the estrogen replacement and atherosclerosis trial ⁸⁵ and whose disease progression was determined using quantitative coronary angiography. Progression of atherosclerosis, quantified as the change in minimum luminal diameter, was less in women who consumed two or more serves of fish a week than in those who consumed less than two serves a week (P = 0.02). Adjusting for factors affecting CHD risk strengthened the association (P = 0.006). However, the benefit was confined mainly to the 52 diabetic women (P < 0.001).

Marine n-3 PUFA intake may influence plaque growth because supplemental marine n-3 PUFA is incorporated into the phospholipids and cholesteryl esters in atherosclerotic lesions.⁸⁶ In a recent study of patients awaiting carotid endarterectomy, specimens obtained in surgery showed that marine n-3 PUFA had

been incorporated into plaques. This was associated with a significant decrease in macrophage infiltration, which is consistent with greater plaque stability.⁸⁷ As with human trials, in animal models marine n-3 PUFA supplementation inhibits development of experimental atherosclerosis independent of plasma lipid effects.⁸⁸⁻⁹¹

A serial carotid ultrasound trial⁹⁰ found no effect of two years of marine n-3 PUFA supplementation on progression of carotid atherosclerosis. Marine n-3 PUFA supplementation appears to be ineffective in preventing restenosis after angioplasty to coronary lesions.⁹² However, there may be benefit in patients who have had bypass grafting in decreasing graft occlusion rates.⁹³ In 610 patients who had coronary bypass grafting, 3400 mg/day of marine n-3 PUFA decreased vein graft occlusion rates from 33% (control group) to 27% (P = 0.03).⁹³

Fish oil supplementation and atrial fibrillation

Fish oils may prevent patients developing episodes of atrial fibrillation. In a prospective population-based cohort of 4815 elderly patients followed for 12 years, 980 cases of incident atrial fibrillation were diagnosed. Multivariate analysis of data showed an inverse association between fish consumption and incident atrial fibrillation. The consumption of fish 1–4 times/week was associated with a 28% lower risk of incident atrial fibrillation (P = 0.005) than the consumption of fish less than once a month. The consumption of fish five times a week or more was associated with a 31% lower risk (P = 0.08).

A rat study has shown that marine n-3 PUFA decreases the asynchronous contractile activity in electrically stimulated atrial myocytes. ⁹⁵ The decrease in asynchronous contractile activity may be explained by changes in membrane fluidity and could be the reason for the beneficial effects of marine n-3 PUFA in preventing atrial fibrillation. A recent study of rabbits ⁹⁶ has shown that DHA-rich fish oils can prevent fibrillation induced by atrial stretch.

In a study of 160 patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting who were randomised to receive either marine n-3 PUFA or placebo, ⁹⁷ pre-operative supplementation with marine n-3 PUFA decreased incident atrial fibrillation by 50%. Not all studies have shown prevention of atrial fibrillation, and more human trials are needed to confirm and quantify the effect of high-dose marine n-3 PUFA on high heart rate activity.

A paper presented at the Heart Rhythm Society in May 2006^{98} examined the effect of marine n-3 PUFA consumption on the development of atrial fibrillation in 17,679 men involved in the Physicians' Health Study. After adjusting for multiple CVD risk factors and lifestyle habits, higher consumption of fish was associated with a paradoxical increased risk of developing atrial fibrillation (OR 1.46; 95% CI, 0.94–2.28 for five meals or more a week; trend for increasing frequency of consumption, P = 0.017). From the adjusted data, the authors calculated that estimated marine n-3 PUFA consumption was also associated with an increased risk of developing atrial fibrillation (adjusted OR 1.37; 95% CI, 0.90–2.10, for the highest versus lowest quintile; trend, P = 0.017).

Fish oil supplementation and heart rate variability

Marine n-3 PUFA supplementation at the moderately low dose recommended by the AHA for secondary prevention influences prognostically important heart rate variables in patients with CHD. High resting heart rate is associated with increased cardiovascular mortality and increased risk of sudden death from MI in apparently healthy individuals. $^{99-102}$ A recent study 103 assessed the effects of 810 mg/day of marine n-3 PUFA in 18 men who had MI and left ventricular ejection fraction < 40%, and were stable. Supplementation decreased resting heart rate from 73 to 68 beats/minute (P < 0.0001) and improved heart rate recovery one minute after exercise (–27 to –32 beats/minute, P < 0.01). Heart rate variability in the high-frequency band increased (P < 0.02), but overall heart rate variability did not change. These observations are consistent with a favourable alteration of vagal activity. Heart rate variables, including heart rate recovery, are important predictors of CHD prognosis. 104,105

Fish oil supplementation, infarction size and angina

In models of experimental MI, marine n-3 PUFA decreases mortality rate, creatine kinase levels and myocardial lipid peroxides. 106

Marine n-3 PUFA may also:

- reduce infarct size and the incidence of large infarcts¹⁰⁷
- be associated with a lower prevalence of myocardial lesions¹⁰⁸
- reduce cardiac oxygen consumption during experimental ischaemia in a rat ischaemia—reperfusion model¹⁰⁹
- decrease episodes of angina and improve exercise time to angina. 110-112

Dietary advice about fish consumption—DART and DART-2

The Diet and Reinfarction Trial (DART)¹¹³ and Diet and Angina Randomized Trial (DART-2)^{114,115} were randomised clinical trials (RCT) in which men < 70 years of age, who had recovered from MI (DART) or who had angina (DART-2), received advice on changing their diets - they were advised to increase intake of fruits and vegetables, and decrease their intake of saturated fat. One arm of the trials included advice to eat more fatty fish.

In the DART¹¹³, all-cause mortality over the first two years was 29% lower in men advised to eat more fish ('fish group') than in men who were not given advice about eating fish. The decrease in all deaths resulted from a decrease in IHD mortality. The incidence of non-fatal MI and IHD events was unchanged in the fish group.

A follow-up of the DART found no long-term benefits on risk of death for up to 10 years afterwards, although the men in the fish group continued to eat slightly more fish. The follow-up showed that the early decrease in all-cause mortality in the fish group was not sustained. The rates of all-cause mortality did not differ between the groups.

Interestingly, in the follow-up, investigators sent a letter to participants in the 'non-fish' group telling them about the results of the trial and recommending that they eat fish for cardiac benefit. Over the next 5–15 years, CAD mortality and total mortality rates in the non-fish groups became congruent with former participants of the fish group. Hamazaki proposed that the men in the non-fish group may have started

eating more fish during the first year of the follow-up because of the letter. It was suggested that this accounted for the decrease in mortality in the non-fish group and the slightly higher mortality in the fish group. ¹¹⁷ In addition, the amount of fish eaten by both groups differed by less than 7 g/day, and 19.3% of men in the non-fish group took fish oil supplements. ¹¹⁶

In the DART-2, 3114 men with angina were randomly allocated to four diet groups and followed for three to nine years. Members of the first group (n = 764) were instructed to 'eat at least two portions of fish each week or up to 3 g of MaxEpa fish oils (18% EPA, 12% DHA)^{114,115} as a partial or total substitute'. Other groups were advised to eat more fruits and vegetables, to eat more fish or take supplements, or to eat a 'sensible diet'. All-cause mortality was not reduced in the group advised to eat more fish. Risk of cardiac death was higher in men given fish advice (adjusted HR = 1.26; 95% CI, 1.00–1.58; P = 0.047) and even higher for risk of sudden cardiac death (adjusted HR = 1.54; 95% CI, 1.06–2.23; P = 0.025). The excess risk occurred in the men supplied with fish oil capsules.

The authors offered several possible explanations for these unexpected findings, such as an adverse effect of fish oils in patients with angina, interaction with certain drugs, or risk compensation or changes in the patients' health behaviour. 114,115,118 The authors proposed that fish oils are protective after MI, but increases the risk of cardiac death in men with angina. The adverse effects occurred only in men who took fish oil capsules and not in men who ate fish. The excess mortality in the fish group occurred in men who took supplements but were not taking β -blockers. Digoxin was the only drug that showed a significant interaction with advice to eat more fish. The authors proposed that fish oils have arrhythmic effects in patients with chronic disease (DART-2) but anti-arrhythmic effects in patients with acute disease (DART, GISSI-P). Burr et al. proposed that certain drugs, for example β -blockers, and dihydropyridine class of L-type calcium channel inhibitors, protect against the adverse effects of fish oils in certain patients, but that digoxin (a potent inhibitor of Na+/K+ ATPase) exacerbates the arrhythmic effects of fish oils.

The DART and DART-2 have been criticised for poor patient compliance, large confidence intervals, and offering advice about the benefits of fish consumption to control groups. This is discussed further in the section on systematic reviews and meta-analysis.

Ongoing clinical trials

A number of large ongoing marine n-3 PUFA RCT are examining clinical endpoints in various patient groups. These include:

- the Outcome Reduction with Initial Glargine Intervention Trial¹¹⁹
- a new study being undertaken by the GISSI study team¹²⁰
- the Alpha Omega Trial.¹²¹

Systematic reviews and meta-analyses

Two meta-analyses of case-control or cohort studies of more than 200,000 individuals, with an average follow-up of 11.8 years, confirmed the independent beneficial effect of fish intake. Compared with individuals who never consumed fish or who ate fish less than once a month, CHD mortality was found to be:

- 11% lower for people who ate fish 1–3 times/month
- 15% lower for people who ate fish once/week
- 23% lower for people who ate fish 2–4 times/week
- 38% lower for people who ate fish five times/week or more.¹

He and colleagues estimated that an increment of 20 g/day of fish intake could possibly lower CHD mortality rates by 7%. The relationship was not as strong for non-fatal MI.

The Harvard School of Public Health Centre for Risk Analysis convened an expert panel to quantify the benefits and potential risks of fish consumption.²⁹ The group noted that consuming small quantities of fish was associated with a 17% reduction in CHD mortality and that each additional serving a week was associated with a further reduction of 3.9%.⁵

A meta-analysis of nine independent cohorts from eight studies comprising 200,575 participants with an average follow-up of 12.8 years demonstrated that fish consumption protects against stroke.³ Compared with individuals who consumed fish less than once per month, those who consumed fish at least once a week were found to have a 13% lower risk of total stroke (95% CI, 0.77 to 0.98). Those who ate fish five or more times a week were found to have a 31% lower risk of stroke (95% CI, 0.54–0.88). A systematic review also found that 'any fish consumption' confers a substantially lower stroke risk (12% on a linear model) compared with 'no fish consumption'.⁴ A probable 2.0% reduction of stroke risk was calculated per serving of fish a week.

Consistent with these systematic reviews of reported fish intake is a recent case control systematic review of 25 studies of tissue n-3 and n-6 fatty acids for CHD events. Low concentrations of n-3 PUFA, especially DHA, were consistently and significantly reduced in CHD patients.¹²²

In a 2004 Cochrane review, Hooper et al. reviewed 48 RCT (36,913 participants) and 41 cohort studies, published up to February 2002. This meta-analysis was widely reported as showing little clinical benefit of marine n-3 PUFA intake. However, the only significant major trial added besides those included in the meta-analyses mentioned above ¹⁻³ was the DART-2, which was discussed earlier. ^{116,124}

It is surprising that the DART-2 was included in the Cochrane meta-analysis, because it was published after the February 2002 cut-off and it did not fulfil the inclusion criteria for the meta-analysis by Hooper et al. The inclusion of the DART-2 led to significant heterogeneity between the included trials. Although acknowledging the heterogeneity of the DART-2 data, Hooper et al. included the DART-2 data in their formal meta-analysis. It has not been widely appreciated that the Cochrane analysis by Hooper et al. revealed that, even with inclusion of the DART-2 data, high marine n-3 PUFA intake was still associated with a significant decrease in total mortality (RR, 0.90; 95% CI, 0.83–0.98, P= 0.002). Removing the DART-2 from the

pooled analysis reveals a greater benefit of high marine n-3 PUFA intake (overall RR of death, 0.83; 95% CI, 0.75–0.91). The latter values reflect a more robust analysis.

The major source of heterogeneity between the cardiovascular outcomes of the DART-2 and the outcomes of other trials is the apparent increase in sudden death rate (but lower overall CHD death rate) of people who consumed fish and fish oils in the DART-2. In the actual Cochrane meta-analysis tables, ¹²³ data from the two-way analysis rather than the four-way analysis was used from the DART-2 and from the GISSI-P trial. The numbers from the DART-2 are correct, but some data on deaths and events were misquoted from the GISSI-P trial.

The original meta-analysis by Hooper et al. 123 was republished 125 17 months after its original online publication in the Cochrane database. This later version included electronic-based searches to February 2002 (although it included the DART-2 published in 2003 115). No new trials were added to the original review and four large cohort studies were not included (Cardiovascular Health Study, 74 Kansas study, 80 JPHC study 72 and the NIPPON DATA80 study. The large JELIS trial, 10,126,127 which confirmed the GISSI-P trial findings, 9,15,120 was also not included.

The later version has been criticised heavily¹²⁸ and generated a number of letters to the editor of the *British Medical Journal*¹²⁹⁻¹³². The response by Hooper et al.¹³³ confirmed the perceived inadequacies of the Cochrane review.

Scott et al.¹³⁴ noted that up to a quarter of the reviews analysed by Hooper et al. were of poor quality and did not meet the outlined quality requirements. A paper by Kris-Etherton and Harris¹³⁵ and a report commissioned by the US Department of Health and Human Services¹³⁶ are consistent with criticism of the DART-2 data.

A systematic review by Studer et al.¹³⁷ compared different anti-lipidemic agents and diets on mortality. This review included 97 RCT of 137,140 subjects in trials using statins, resins, niacin fibrates, marine n-3 PUFA, or dietary intervention. The statins and marine n-3 PUFA trials were the most effective in decreasing mortality. Compared with control groups, risk rates for total mortality were 0.87 for statins (95% CI, 0.81–0.94) and 0.77 for marine n-3 PUFA (95% CI, 0.63–0.94). The review included 14 trials of marine n-3 PUFA supplementation. The authors noted moderate heterogeneity, which was related mainly to the inclusion of the DART-2 (whose quality has been questioned as discussed above). Studer et al. noted that the higher quality studies show a greater risk reduction. After excluding the DART-2, the risk ratio for overall mortality improved from 0.77 to 0.75 (95% CI to 0.65–0.87), and the heterogeneity decreased substantially.

The benefits and risks of fish intake on the basis of an extensive review and meta-analyses of relevant evidence unequivocally concluded that '...(f)or major health outcomes among adults, based on both the strength of the evidence and the potential magnitudes of effect, the benefits of fish intake exceed the potential risks'. Concentrating on human studies from randomised trials and large prospective studies, and performing a meta-analysis on the evidence where possible, Mozaffarian and Rimm³⁰ found that 1–2 servings/week of 170 g of fish high in DHA and EPA reduces risk of coronary death by 36% (95% CI, 20–50%; P < 0.001) and total mortality by 17% (95% CI, 0–32%; P = 0.046). The authors estimated that an intake of 250 mg/day of DHA and EPA is sufficient for primary prevention.

Mechanisms responsible for the protective effects of marine n-3 PUFA on CHD

Fish and fish oils are thought to decrease the risk of CHD by several possible mechanisms (see Table 1).

Table 1. Mechanisms of action for CHD protection

Mechanisms by which fish and fish oils decrease the risk of CHD

- decreases triglyceride and remnant lipoprotein levels
- alters metabolism of n-6 PUFA eicosanoids to inhibit inflammatory processes
- increases HDL cholesterol levels (variable response)
- improves heart rate variability and lower heart rate
- elevates ventricular fibrillation threshold
- · decreases risk of thrombosis and anti-platelet effects
- slows progression of atherosclerotic plaques
- improves endothelial function
- modestly reduces blood pressure
- lowers plasma leptin levels

The protective effect of fish and marine n-3 PUFA intake may be confounded by the likelihood that regular fish consumption is a marker for a healthy diet high in vegetables, pulses, fruits and red wine. High fish consumers in Western countries also tend to have a higher socioeconomic position and lower prevalence of depressive symptoms—both significant independent risk factors for CHD. 139-141

Membrane effects

Fatty acids (FA), particularly marine n-3 PUFA, are incorporated into cell membranes. Increasing the amount of PUFA in the membrane increases its fluidity and deformability. DHA is the most unsaturated FA and is particularly effective in transitional changes associated with transmembrane protein activation. 142-144

DHA, EPA, ALA and arachidonic acid (AA) compete for the sn-2 position on membrane phospholipids. The relative proportion of these FA determines their relative availability as substitutes for cyclo-oxygenases and lipoxygenases, and the balance of eicosanoid and docosanoic mediators, such as resolvins.^{145,146}

Marine n-3 PUFA are ligands for nuclear receptors such as peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptors and retinoid X receptors. Therefore they may influence gene regulation. 147-149

Effect on lipid profile

Marine n-3 PUFA has well-known effects in decreasing serum TG concentration. A review of marine n-3 PUFA studies¹⁷ reported that 4000 mg/day of marine n-3 PUFA decreases TG concentration by 25–30% and increases HDL cholesterol concentration by 1–3%. The review confirmed that there is a dose-response relationship between intake of marine n-3 PUFA and TG concentration: the higher

the baseline TG level the greater the response. The dose-response relationship has now been confirmed in a single clinical trial by Milte et al. ¹⁸ For patients with severe hypertriglyceridaemia (TG concentration 5.65–22.60 mmol/L), marine n-3 PUFA may decrease TG concentration by 45% (P < 0.00001). ¹⁵⁰ In patients with extremely high concentrations of TG (> 22.60 mmol/L), marine n-3 PUFA may lower TG concentration by 50% or more.

Animal and in vitro studies show that consumption of marine n-3 PUFA increases HDL cholesterol receptors and the turnover of HDL cholesterol. However, a human study showed no relationship between marine n-3 PUFA intake and HDL cholesterol level. In the INTERLIPID study, marine n-3 PUFA intake was positively correlated with serum HDL cholesterol concentration in Japanese men in Japan and Hawaii A 1% kcal increment of marine n-3 PUFA intake was associated with a 4.6 mg/dL higher HDL cholesterol (P = 0.011). The relationship was not significant in women after adjustment for hormone-replacement therapy, although the reason for this sex difference is unclear.

One clinical trial¹⁵⁵ showed for the first time the cholesterol-lowering effects of a diet supplemented with high-dose marine n-3 PUFA and plant sterols. The trial comprised four phases, each lasting 29 days. All participants received an olive oil-based, weight-maintaining diet during the first month. During the other three phases, a small amount of olive oil was replaced daily by marine n-3 PUFA only, marine n-3 PUFA plus plant sterols, or plant sterol only. Plasma TG concentrations were markedly lower in the groups fed either of the diets with marine n-3 PUFA (P = 0.0001) compared with the olive oil or sunflower oil plus plant sterol diets. Low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol level concentration was significantly lower after the fish oils plus plant sterol, or the sunflower oil plus plant sterol diets, than after the olive oil diet. HDL cholesterol concentration was not changed by the diets. In this study, the combination of plant sterols and marine n-3 FA had an additive effect on plasma lipid concentrations.

In a study of children with hyperlipidemia, supplementation with DHA significantly increased the concentration of the less-atherogenic LDL subclasses 1 and 2 by 91% and 14%, respectively. It also decreased the concentration of the more atherogenic LDL subclass 3 by 48%. Another recent trial measured the effect of DHA supplementation (as microalgae oil, DHA 940 mg/day) in vegetarians who ate no meat and who did not consume more than one fish meal per month. Supplementation with DHA achieved a beneficial Omega-3 Index (defined later in this document) of \geq 8% in 69% of the participants with previously low concentrations of marine n-3 PUFA. 157

Marine n-3 PUFA is effective in lowering the concentrations of postprandial TG-rich lipoprotein particles, chylomicrons, chylomicron remnants, and very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) cholesterol. ¹⁵⁸ It appears that chylomicron clearance is accelerated with marine n-3 PUFA therapy, probably because of reduced competition with VLDL cholesterol for hepatic receptor uptake after remnant particles are partly metabolised and acquire apolipoprotein E. ¹⁵⁸ Marine n-3 PUFA supplementation has no significant effect on total serum cholesterol or LDL cholesterol concentrations if the TG level is not elevated. ¹⁷

The most recent systematic review of the effects of consumption of marine n-3 PUFA and ALA on serum CVD risk factors combined 21 trials that evaluated lipid outcomes and performed a meta-analysis on the relevant data. ¹⁹ Marine n-3 PUFA consumption decreased TG level by 0.30 mmol/L (95% CI, -0.37 to -0.22 mmol/L) and increased the concentrations of HDL cholesterol by 0.04 mmol/L (95% CI, 0.02-

0.06 mmol/L) and LDL cholesterol by 0.15 mmol/L (95% CI, 0.08–0.21 mmol/L). Higher marine n-3 PUFA dose and higher baseline levels were associated with a greater reduction in TG concentration. There is no significant evidence that ALA alters the concentrations of blood lipids, HbA1c or fasting blood glucose, or that marine n-3 PUFA intake alters high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) concentration. The authors concluded that marine n-3 PUFA has a dose-dependent beneficial effect of on TG concentration, particularly in individuals with high levels. In contrast, a very small study of 15 healthy vegetarian men found that supplementation with flaxseed oil (ALA) for 4 weeks (51–55% ALA) elevated TG concentration from 1.40 \pm 0.17 mmol/L to 1.98 \pm 0.30 mmol/L (P = 0.035) ¹⁵⁹.

Marine n-3 PUFA can regulate TG metabolism through at least four nuclear receptors: liver X receptor (LXR), hepatocyte nuclear factor- 4α (HNF- 4α), farnesol X receptor (FXR), and peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (α , β and γ PPAR). These nuclear receptors regulate expression of various genes and influence various aspects of lipoprotein metabolism.

Activation of PPAR- α reduces TG levels mainly by decreasing apolipoprotein CIII expression, which inhibits lipoprotein lipase, a key enzyme of TG catabolism. Marine n-3 PUFA and its eicosanoid metabolites are natural ligands with high affinity for binding to PPAR- α . ¹⁶⁰

Marine n-3 PUFA significantly lowers chylomicron levels probably by decreasing secretion of VLDL cholesterol from the liver. Marine n-3 PUFA also decreases chylomicron size, which increases clearance and possibly increases lipoprotein lipase activity. DHA and EPA appear equally effective in improving chylomicron clearance.¹⁶¹

Marine n-3 PUFA modulates several other lipid and carbohydrate metabolic enzymes by regulating the expression of their genes. This results in a decrease in TG synthesis and an increase in mitochondrial β -oxidation of FA, which subsequently decreases the formation of VLDL cholesterol. Help 169,170

EPA directly induces the oxidation of mitochondrial FA deposits, which helps reduce tissue lipid content. The effects of DHA are unclear. A recent in vivo study supports the hypothesis that the hypolipidaemic effect of EPA is primarily liver mediated. The authors hypothesised that increasing β -oxidation rates should gradually reduce fat storage in adipocytes. Unlike treatment with fibrate drugs, the TG-lowering action of marine n-3 PUFA appears to take place without increasing the activity of lipoprotein lipase. 174,175

Table 2 is adapted from Davidson's 2006 review¹⁷⁶ and conveniently summarises the lipid mechanisms of marine n-3 PUFA.

Table 2. Summary of effects of marine n-3 PUFA on nuclear receptors involved in regulation of lipogenesis

	Expected changes		
Metabolic nuclear receptor	Triglycerides	High-density lipoprotein cholesterol	Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
Peroxisome proliferator— activated receptor	↓ ↓	1	↓
Liver X receptor	$\downarrow \downarrow$	\	↓
Farnesol X receptor	$\downarrow \downarrow$	↑	↑
Hepatocyte nuclear factor-4α	$\downarrow \downarrow$	↓	\leftrightarrow
Overall effects	1111	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow

↑: increase; ↓: decrease; ↔: neutral effect Adapted from a table in source 176

Interaction effects of fish oil supplementation with fibrates and statins

Theoretically, the combination of marine n-3 PUFA and fibrates to treat high TG concentration should have an additive or synergistic effect.¹⁷⁵ There is anecdotal evidence from clinicians and some animal studies that supports this theory.¹⁶³ We are unaware of any clinical trials in humans of combination therapy of marine n-3 PUFA and fibrates.

Marine n-3 PUFA is effective in altering lipid levels when given in combination with atorvastatin, simvastatin or pravastatin. ^{20,21,26} Combined treatment redistributes LDL particles to a less dense form and may decrease the total number of LDL particles beyond the response to statin-only therapy. Addition of marine-3 PUFA to statin therapy has an additive effect in decreasing TG concentration ^{22,26} and may increase HDL cholesterol concentration. ^{23,24,177} Moreover, while n-3 supplementation alone tends to raise total cholesterol, it may have a cholesterol-lowering effect when superimposed on statin therapy. ²⁶

In JELIS. 10,126,127,178 18,645 hypercholesterolaemic people were given low-dose statins and randomised to receive a high concentration of 1800 mg/day EPA, or placebo. They were then followed up for 4 ½ years. This population had a high background intake of fish, and EPA intake was four times higher than in the GISSI-P study mentioned on page 13. In the statin-only group, 3.5% had a cardiac event compared with 2.8% in the statin plus fish oils group, representing a 19% reduction in the HR (95% CI, 0.69-0.95; P = 0.048). The rate of unstable angina in the statin-only group was 6.7% and 4.9% in the statin plus EPA group, a 28% risk reduction (95% CI, 0.55–0.95; P = 0.019). There was no difference in sudden death rate (0.2% of the population). In patients with known CHD, the composite CHD endpoint occurred in 10.7% of the statin-only group and in 8.7% in the statin plus EPA group. This was a significant 19% relative risk reduction and 2% absolute risk reduction. The composite endpoint rate in patients with stable heart disease was considerably lower than that in the previous statin-placebo-controlled trials. In this study, about 80% of the patients in the primary prevention arms and 26% in the secondary prevention arm smoked.

In a recent Western Australian study, 40 mg of atorvastatin increased HDL cholesterol concentration from 1.00 mmol/L to 1.04 mmol/L.²⁵ A daily dose of 4000

mg/day of marine n-3 PUFA (45% EPA) increased HDL cholesterol concentration from 0.99 mmol/L to 1.00 mmol/L. In the group given both 40 mg/day atorvastatin and 4000 mg/day marine n-3 PUFA, HDL cholesterol concentration increased 14% from 1.10 mmol/L to 1.25 mmol/L. This study suggests that the combination of statin and marine n-3 PUFA treatment synergistically increases HDL cholesterol concentration. Marine n-3 PUFA did not significantly alter fasting concentrations of plasma glucose, insulin, tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) or hs-CRP.

Inflammation

Marine n-3 PUFA supplementation inhibits nuclear transcription factor κB (NF- κB), a key transcription factor in cytokine gene expression, cellular adhesion, inflammation and carcinogenesis. ¹⁷⁹ In a murine model, marine n-3 PUFA decreases NF- κB activation and TNF- α expression by 46% in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated macrophages. ¹⁸⁰ It is thought that marine n-3 PUFA may decrease production of nitric oxide (NO) and its reactive products, especially in macrophages. ^{181,182} This is a favourable action when there is chronic inflammation or a tumour. ¹⁸³ In endothelial cells, NO is important for normal function. Marine n-3 PUFA supplementation is associated with improved endothelial function and presumably does not adversely influence NO production in the endothelium.

A number of marine n-3 PUFA-derived products are generated by action of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2). These products include oxygenated bioactive products termed 'resolvins', which inhibit the inflammatory response by decreasing leukocyte exudate cell number. This may explain part of the beneficial actions of marine n-3 PUFA on cardiovascular and chronic immune diseases, inflammation and neoplasia. 145,146

A recent trial¹⁸⁴ investigating the effect of short-term (48 hours) intravenous infusion of marine n-3 PUFA on immunological function found rapid interference with monocyte-related immunological and pro-inflammatory functions. For example, suppression of the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines interleukin 1 (IL-1) and TNF- α , monocyte adhesion to the endothelium, and trans-endothelial monocyte migration. Howe et al.⁴⁷ found that DHA- and EPA-rich fish oils had equivalent effects on IL-1 production.

A recent placebo-controlled, double-blind study investigated the effects of marine n-3 PUFA-enriched food on inflammatory markers in middle-aged men and women with normal to mildly elevated TG concentrations. One group was fed an EPA-rich drink (600 mg/day EPA, 260 mg/day DHA) for 12 weeks. The other group took a placebo (control group). EPA concentrations in the total red blood cell phospholipid fraction increased significantly by 79% in the EPA group. The inflammatory markers measured (hs-CRP and soluble TNF receptors 1 and 2) did not change in either group. More trials are needed to clarify these counterintuitive results. Hill et al. also found no effects of DHA-rich oil on cytokine production but noted that it suppressed superoxide production in stimulated blood neutrophils.

Two papers in the *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science of the United States of America* demonstrated an in vitro mechanism for the inverse relationship between marine n-3 PUFA intake and markers of inflammation. In 2003, Bagga et al. demonstrated that successful replacement of n-6 PUFA with marine n-3 PUFA in cell membranes decreases the cellular response to mitogenic and inflammatory stimuli (in particular COX-2 and IL-6 production). Massaro et al. description of the United States of the United S

of DHA on COX-2 expression and activity in human saphenous vein endothelial cells stimulated by the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1. Exposure to DHA for more than 24 hours reduced COX-2 expression and activity induced by IL-1, without affecting cyclo-oxygenase-1 expression. The DHA effect depended on the NF- κ B binding site in the COX-2 promoter. Western blots showed that DHA blocks nuclear p65 NF- κ B subunit translocation by decreasing cytokine-stimulated reactive oxygen species and ERK1/2 activation. Finally, inhibition of various enzymes involved in PUFA metabolism demonstrates that 15-lipoxygenase-1 products may mediate part of the DHA effects.

Leptin

Leptin is a major cytokine secreted by adipose tissue. Plasma concentrations of leptin reflect adipose tissue mass, and a high leptin level is associated with obesity in humans. 189 Elevated plasma concentration of leptin is independently associated with adverse cardiovascular risk. 190-192 The mechanism responsible for the increased risk associated with elevated leptin concentration is not clear. Marine n-3 PUFA supplementation inhibits leptin gene expression in an animal model. 193 In a tribal population in Tanzania, a diet rich in fish and high in marine n-3 PUFA is associated with a low plasma leptin concentration independent of body fat level. 194

Platelets and coagulation

Marine n-3 PUFA has a mild anti-platelet effect but no significant effect on bleeding time. Pre-operative supplementation does not significantly decrease post-operative bleeding following coronary artery bypass surgery. In combination with aspirin, high doses of marine n-3 PUFA (> 3000 mg/day DHA and EPA) may lower the fibrinolytic response to venous occlusion. Interestingly, marine n-3 PUFA protects rather than worsens the gastric mucosa against ulcers induced by non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Marine n-3 PUFA supplementation does not change INR levels in patients on Warfarin. There have been a few case reports of an idiosyncratic increase in INR after marine n-3 PUFA was commenced.

Alpha-linolenic acid (ALA)

Similarly to linoleic acid (LA, n-6 PUFA), ALA is an essential fatty acid in humans that must be supplied in the diet. ALA is partly metabolised in the body to EPA, although, because only 10% is metabolised to EPA, ALA does not contribute significantly to total body EPA content. It is not clear whether ALA prevents recurrent coronary events, although there are trends suggesting that this may be the case. Due to the paucity of high-quality conclusive data, the Heart Foundation's previous recommendation of at least 2 g/day of ALA^{6,33} remains unchanged.

Some epidemiological studies show that a high intake of ALA is associated with a low rate of CHD.¹⁹⁷ It is not clear whether this reflects a specific protective effect of ALA or a surrogate effect of healthy eating patterns, although dietary LA has beneficial effects on carotid wall thickness.¹⁹⁸

A 2004 meta-analysis of five prospective cohort studies and three clinical trials in patients with CHD found that high ALA intake is associated with a 21% reduction in fatal CHD, but this did not reach clinical significance (95% CI, 0.60–1.04). 199

A 2005 18-year follow-up from the Nurse's Health Study²⁰⁰ suggested that, after accounting for coronary risk factors and other FA, the intake of ALA was inversely associated with the risk of sudden cardiac death (P = 0.02) especially in women with high ALA intake. ALA intake was not related to the risk of other CHD deaths or nonfatal MI. The inverse association between ALA and sudden cardiac death was linear and remained significant in women who also consumed high amounts of marine n-3 PUFA. The authors concluded that the specificity of this inverse association with ALA 'supports the hypothesis that these n-3 PUFA may have anti-arrhythmic properties'. This inverse association between ALA intake and CHD may not be as strong in men. ¹⁹⁹

In the 1960s, a number of trials were conducted to determine whether ALA supplementation or added unsaturated oil rich, particularly in ALA, prevents CHD. In 412 patients with a history of MI, 201 a high-ALA diet (soybean oil) had no significant effect on mortality, although there was a 43% reduction in the rates of fatal MI in the experimental group (95% CI, 0.21–0.89; P = 0.004).

The Norwegian vegetable oil experiment²⁰² is the largest ALA supplementation trial and involved 13,000 men, mostly without known CHD. Participants were randomised to receive 10 ml/day of flaxseed oil (equivalent to 500 mg of ALA) or a control diet containing sunflower oil, which is also rich in ALA (65%). The rates of all-cause mortality and coronary events such as MI did not differ between dietary groups. The sunflower oil used as a control appeared to have had a cardioprotective effect because the rate of cardiac events was lower in all participants than the background population rate.

The Medical Research Council Soya-Bean trial 203 found no effects of soybean oil supplementation on cardiovascular events or all-cause mortality. The Lyon Diet Heart Study 204 is a randomised prospective study that assessed an ALA-enriched diet. About 600 post-MI patients were randomised to two diets: a Mediterranean diet high in ALA and the AHA prudent diet. Patients who consumed the Mediterranean diet had 50% lower rates of mortality and CHD events (P < 0.001).

A randomised clinical trial²⁰⁵ assessed the effects of ALA supplementation on the progression of carotid and femoral IMT and inflammatory markers in 103 men and women with moderate hypercholesterolemia. ALA supplementation had no effect on two-year progression rates of mean carotid and femoral IMT or blood cytokine concentrations. However, it did lower CRP concentration.

Docosapentaenoic acid (DPA)

DPA is an n-3 elongation product of EPA. It may also be formed by the retroconversion of DHA. At present, there is insufficient evidence on the role of DPA in preventing CVD. The Heart Foundation has not made any recommendations about DPA.

DPA may comprise a significant proportion of n-3 PUFA intake, particularly in non-fish eaters, and may account for 30% of n-3 PUFA intake in high meat eaters. ^{50,206}

In the Kuopio heart study, men in the top 20% intake of n-3 DPA and DHA had a 44% risk reduction of incident CHD, compared with those in the lowest 20%. A similar benefit associated with high serum levels of n-3 DPA was seen in men with and without incident CHD in the USA Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. Serum n-3 DPA concentration was associated with a 42% risk reduction (OR, 0.58; 95% CI, 0.38–0.89) and DHA concentration with a 43% risk reduction (OR, 0.57; 95% CI, 0.36–0.90).

Seal oil, which is rich in n-3 DPA, lowers tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) concentration in healthy volunteers. Another study showed that n-3 DPA is more effective than DHA or EPA in inhibiting platelet aggregation by inhibiting the cyclooxygenase (COX) pathway and by stimulating the lipoxygenase pathway. DPA is more potent than EPA in suppressing vascular growth factor (VEGF)-induced angiogenesis. VEGF is thought to be the most important stimulator of plaque angiogenesis, which contributes to atherosclerotic plaque progression and instability. 212

Marine n-3 PUFA and other conditions

The Heart Foundation supports the 2006 position statement from The Cancer Council of New South Wales on *Omega-3 fatty acids, fish and cancer prevention*. ²¹³ In addition, a review concluded that marine n-3 PUFA inhibits carcinogenesis. ²¹⁴ Altering the n-6:n-3 ratio in human tumour cells by gene transfer inhibits cancer cell proliferation and increases apoptotic cell death in the tumour cells. ²¹⁵ A large, 14-year epidemiological prospective study ¹⁹⁹ of the relationship between intake of various FA and cancer found a relationship between the intake of DHA and EPA and a lower risk of prostate cancer. ²¹⁶ A meta-analysis found only a weak relationship between a high intake of ALA and the risk of prostate cancer, and concluded that more research is needed.

Reviews of trials of marine n-3 PUFA supplementation indicate some clinical benefits in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. ²¹⁷⁻²²⁰ Marine n-3 PUFA appear to have anti-inflammatory effects, such as decreasing the levels of inflammatory markers, including leukotriene B4, interleukin-1 (IL-1) and CRP. ²²¹⁻²²³

In the Framingham Heart Study, individuals with plasma DHA concentration in the upper quartile had a 47% lower risk of dementia. The average fish intake in this group was 2.7 servings a week.²²⁴ Supplementation with n-3 PUFA improves cognitive function in patients with and without dementia.²²⁵

The Heart Foundation considers depression, the most common mental disorder, an independent risk factor for CHD. ¹⁴¹ Epidemiological studies indicate a relationship between low fish consumption and increased prevalence of depression, and an inverse relationship between blood or tissue marine n-3 PUFA content and depression. Depressed patients with acute coronary syndrome (acute MI or unstable angina) have significantly lower serum n-3 PUFA concentration and a lower ratio of n-3:n-6 than controls. ²²⁶ Marine n-3 PUFA supplementation improves mild to moderately severe depression with efficacy similar to standard drug therapy. ²²⁷

Risks and cautions associated with fish consumption and fish oil supplementation

Fish, like any food, has the potential to cause illness in some individuals. Allergy to seafood occurs in a small percentage of the population. Most often this is because of an anaphylactic-type reaction to proteins in prawns and other crustaceans, and less commonly, in fin fish. Seafood may harbour a number of biological, chemical and physical hazards including viruses, bacteria and biotoxins. In Australia, FSANZ allows the general sale of food and food products if they fulfil the requirements of being 'safe and suitable foods'. Specifically, there has been concern regarding mercury and pesticides in fish. There is also a growing awareness of the risk of ciguatera, an under-recognised form of fish poisoning.

A recent survey of seafood-related illness in Australia from 1990 to 2000 demonstrated that the risk of becoming ill as a result of consuming seafood is very low. A total of 2158 cases of seafood-borne illness were reported in Australia during this time. More than 80% of these cases came from three outbreaks of viral illness associated with oyster intake. All of these outbreaks resulted from contamination of oyster leases by human sewage during heavy rainfall. The most prevalent and enduring seafood illness is predictable with high precision and is preventable. There is an estimated 48 cases of ciguatoxicosis in Queensland each year. 230,231

FSANZ recommends that pregnant women avoid eating raw fish and oysters to reduce the risk of listeria. ²³²

Mercury

Exposure to high concentrations of mercury in various forms is toxic. Exposure to mercury in utero and after the birth can cause developmental neurotoxicity. Fish is the major source of mercury in food. The most important inorganic contaminant in fish is methylmercury (MeHg). Fish absorb MeHg from water, and it binds to tissue protein. Cooking does not reduce MeHg content.

MeHg contamination varies according to geographic location and fish species. Some species of fish may contain significant levels of MeHg, PCB, dioxins and other environmental contaminates. Larger predatory fish with longer lifespan have greater concentrations of MeHg. Swordfish and shark have the highest levels, but also contain high levels of marine n-3 PUFA. However, MeHg levels can vary enormously within a single species by up to 150 fold. Mercury content is high in fish where there is volcanic soil runoff (as in some parts of New Zealand) and where there is industrial waste contaminating fresh water and lakes (as in some parts of Northern Europe). In the mass poisoning in Minamata Bay, Japan, 50 years ago, industrial waste from a factory contaminated fish with MeHg levels 100 times the usual level. The severe mercury toxicity was linked to 900 deaths and two million people have suffered long-term neurological damage.

Recommendations about the limit of MeHg have relaxed from the first recommendation of the NHRMC in 1971^{239} (0.03 µg/kg of body weight/week* of

_

^{*}Consumption of MeHg in fish is measured in μg/kg of body weight/week.

MeHg) to the 2004 FSANZ recommendation (3.3 μ g/kg of body weight/week of MeHg). The recommendations of international bodies (such as the Joint Expert Committee for Food Additives and Contaminants) and scientific studies examining the effect of MeHg intake have influenced the Australian upper limit recommendation. ²⁴⁰

Recently FSANZ revised its recommendation²⁴¹ limiting certain fish species to minimise the risk of MeHg toxicity. This update was based on a report from the June 2003 meeting of the Joint Expert Committee for Food Additives and Contaminants (JECFA) of the WHO and the FAO.²³⁴ The JECFA reduced the general population upper limit MeHg intake recommendation from 3.3 to 1.6 μ g/kg body weight/week. The main reason for this reduction was the adoption of a new safety factor margin to decrease MeHg intake, particularly among pregnant women.

Japanese researchers were among the first to analyse sections of their own population in the light of the recent JECFA revision. Yasutake et al.²⁴² recently found that 25% of Japanese females of childbearing age consume MeHg over the JECFA recommended limit. The authors noted, however, that food habits and the possible benefits of fish consumption should be considered when determining an appropriate regulatory standard for fish.

The Japanese government has responded to these findings by issuing advice to limit consumption of several kinds of fish, dolphins and whales that exhibit high levels of mercury.²⁴³

No international consensus has formed regarding upper limit recommendations for mercury intake. FSANZ recommends an upper limit of MeHg intake by pregnant women of 1.6 $\mu g/kg$ body weight/week, in line with JECFA. However, it has maintained the older recommendation of 3.3 $\mu g/kg$ body weight/week for the general population (excluding pregnant women). The reason for maintaining the older recommendation is due to the need to offset the potential harm of MeHg contamination with the benefits of eating fish.

A recent study. 246 of 50–70-year-olds found that blood mercury level and neurobehavioural function were not significantly related. The median blood mercury level of 2.1 μ g/L (range, 0–16 μ g/L) was lower than the 'acceptable' level for children and women of childbearing age, as established by the US Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) and National Research Council. 247,248 A recent study in the Seychelles 249 rebutted the findings of a number of other earlier studies $^{250-253}$ and did not find any link between ocean fish consumption with relatively high mercury intake (up to 12 times that of the average intake of people in the USA) and neurodevelopment risk. Thus, the intake and blood mercury concentrations advocated by the US EPA may be unnecessarily restrictive.

The tables in Appendix 1 compare MeHg content and recommendations of fish intake in commonly available fish species in Australia and the USA, based on the MeHg limits established under the aforementioned regulatory guidelines (FSANZ, the WHO and US EPA) on the basis of available data. Table 3 summarises the advice for pregnant women, women planning pregnancy and children who should limit their consumption of fish with higher levels of mercury based on FSANZ recommendations.²⁴¹ There is no need to restrict intake of fish with lower levels of mercury (not listed in the table).

Table 3. Advice for pregnant women, women planning pregnancy and young children

FSANZ recommendation	Fish
Limit to one serve per fortnight. If consumed, no other fish should be eaten	Swordfish, shark, broadbill, marlin
Consume no more than one serve a week, with no other fish being consumed during that week	Orange roughy (sea perch), catfish (imported basa)

Table adapted from FSANZ advice on mercury in fish²⁴¹

Two recent studies on toxic contaminants in salmon^{254,255} concluded that even the most contaminated salmon has unequivocal health benefits that far outweigh any potential worst-case scenario (for example 92 patients with CHD would avoid death for every one person who would develop cancer as a result of contaminants in fish²⁵⁵).

The Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor Study and the EURAMIC study demonstrated that high mercury level is a significant risk factor for CHD events. ^{28,256-258} The data suggested that consumption of oily fish twice a week is sufficient for benefit without excessive exposure to toxic contaminants such as mercury. ²⁸

The Harvard Centre for Risk Analysis expert panel²⁹ summed up the most pessimistic scenario of lifetime exposure to organic chemicals through consumption of contaminated farmed salmon of 4–16 oz/month (113–454 g/month) over a lifetime. The calculated loss of quality-adjusted life years for the total population of the USA is 600 per year, while the quality-adjusted life years gain from eating this fish is 120,000 per year. The net benefit of fish consumption is clear and unequivocal.

Mozaffarian and Rimm³⁰ published the most recent review of the evidence weighing the benefit of fish consumption against the risks to human health. The review focused on the relationships between intake of fish or marine n-3 PUFA and cardiovascular risk and early neurological development. The authors concluded that women of childbearing age and breastfeeding mothers should consume no more than two fish servings a week and should limit the intake of selected species high in MeHg.

Mercury in fish oil supplements

Fish oil capsules available in Australia have zero or near-zero MeHg content. This is to be expected because MeHg is bound to protein in fish and manufacturers are required by the Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) to have virtually no detected mercury in supplements sold in Australia (< 0.5 Hg/L).³¹

A recent investigation of five fish oil brands from the USA showed that all five contained insignificant concentrations of mercury. Three brands contained a level of mercury roughly equivalent to that found in human blood.²⁵⁹

Dioxins and PCBs

Dioxins (which include PCBs) are groups of toxic organic chemicals²⁶⁰ that are widespread in the environment and that can accumulate in body fat and remain unchanged over long periods. Overall dietary exposure seems to have declined in Australia and throughout the world in the past 10 years.²⁶¹

A pilot study of PCB levels in farmed and wild salmon from Vancouver, Canada, found that farmed fish have up to 10 times more PCBs compared with wild caught salmon. A recent study from Norway examined the effect of the intake of salmon exposed to selected organic and inorganic contaminants. The levels of dioxins in all the salmon fillets was less than the mandated European Union limit, although fillets of salmon fed with fish oils had the highest concentration of dioxins, arsenic and related contaminants. The authors concluded that less reliance on fish oils as a form of fish feed should decrease the amount of dioxins and contaminants in fish consumed by humans while still maintaining a good dietary source of marine n-3 PUFA.

The mean levels of dioxins and PCB are very low in Australian fish: 1/15 of the FSANZ maximum level (ML) of PCB and 1/17 of the European Commission ML for dioxin in bluefin tuna, ²⁶⁴ and about 30% of the FSANZ ML of mercury in farmed and wild caught tuna. ²⁶⁵ In commercial aquaculture-produced yellowtail kingfish and mulloway from the Spencer Gulf in South Australia sampled from 2003 to 2004, ²⁶⁶ the mean levels of mercury were 4–6% of the FSANZ limit. Dioxin levels were similarly low.

A 2004 sample of commercial and wild yellowtail kingfish and mulloway found mean mercury levels to be 5.8% of the FSANZ limit in commercial yellowtail kingfish, 16.8% in wild yellowtail kingfish, and 7.4% in mulloway. Dioxin levels were 17% of the EC limit for dioxins in farmed yellowtail, 3% in wild yellowtail, and 4% in farmed mulloway.

As part of the National Dioxins Program, FSANZ found that foods including fish in Australia and New Zealand have a low level of dioxins.³² The Australian TGA requirements are consistent with the WHO recommendations of dioxin intake (< 10 pg/kg of body weight/day),²⁶⁷ and it is unlikely that the highest therapeutic doses of fish oils (up to 10 capsules/day) would exceed the upper limit for PCBs.

The recently developed supercritical extraction technique, combined with adsorbent techniques, removes nearly 100% of the total toxicity from fish oils. ²⁶⁸ Importantly, these methods do not change the marine n-3 PUFA content of fish oil supplements. Emerging purification technologies such as these will serve to allay consumer fears and ensure compliance to regulatory guidelines for dioxin and PCB content.

At the levels of fish and fish oils commonly consumed in Australia, there is no evidence of the harmful effects of dioxins. However, there is uncertainty regarding consumption of dioxins at the highest therapeutic doses in high-risk groups such as pregnant women and young children.

Ciguatera

Ciguatera fish poisoning is the most frequently reported intoxication resulting from fish consumption in Australia. However, it is often unrecognised, and significantly under-diagnosed and under-reported. Ciguatoxins are produced by the unicelluar *Gambierdiscus toxicus* component of plankton typically associated with bleached coral reef. Toxins are passed along the food chain and are concentrated in the flesh of progressively larger fish. The toxin is tasteless and has no odour. One large serve of an infected fish can cause the illness.

The most common symptoms of ciguatera fish poisoning are diarrhoea, vomiting, abdominal pain and myalgia. More serious symptoms can include weakness, myalgia, aching joints, cramping, palpitations, pruritus and sweating.²³⁰

In Australia, fish that produce ciguatera are found predominantly in Queensland and Northern Territory waters. ²³¹ The fish species most likely to harbour *Gambierdiscus toxicus* are coral trout and Spanish mackerel. There are no known clinical cases of ciguatera from taking fish oil products.

Variability of marine n-3 PUFA content in fish

Unlike mammals, fish do not store lipids in adipose tissue, but deposit lipids in the liver, muscles, perivisceral area and subcutaneous tissues.^{271,272} On the basis of muscle fat per body weight, fish may be classified as:

- lean < 1% fat (for example Atlantic cod or rainbow trout)
- intermediate 1–10% fat (for example Eastern gemfish, Barramundi cod)
- fatty > 10% fat (for example Atlantic salmon, herring, swordfish).

It should also be noted that the fat content of wild species of fish can vary dramatically during the year²⁷³ and that there are differences between the nutritional values of farmed and wild fish.²⁷⁴

The Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) conducted an Australian-wide study of the oil content and composition of Australian fish. It concluded that Australian fish generally have higher relative levels of DHA than fish from the northern hemisphere. The tables in Appendix 1 compare the content of DHA, EPA and total marine n-3 PUFA in commonly available fish species in Australia and the USA. These tables also estimate the number of servings each week of these species needed to achieve the recommended weekly intake of total marine n-3 PUFA. Appendix 1, Table 1 reports the considerable disparity between oil content in Australian fish and the published levels.

The type of oil fed to fish may influence the effects of fish consumption in humans. A recent double-blind intervention study fed different types of fish oils to Atlantic salmon. It then measured lipid concentration and markers of inflammation in humans who consumed the different fish. ²⁷⁶ The levels of total marine n-3 PUFA and the n-3:n-6 ratio were significantly higher in participants consuming Atlantic salmon fed the 100% marine n-3 PUFA feed (fish oils) than in those consuming fish fed rapeseed oil or combined rapeseed and salmon oil.

The CSIRO recently initiated a study into the marine n-3 PUFA content of potential new farmed seafood species. It discovered that sampled specimens of the Australian striped trumpeter (*Latris lineata*) contained the highest concentrations of n-3 PUFA globally recorded for an aquaculture species (up to 10,200 mg/100g marine n-3 PUFA).²⁷⁷

A study in Tasmania investigated the effects of replacing marine-3 PUFA in the diet of Atlantic salmon with stearidonic acid (18:4n-3, a biosynthetic precursor of marine n-3 PUFA) derived from plant sources.²⁷⁸ Atlantic salmon fed stearidonic acid had marine n-3 PUFA levels comparable to fish fed with a standard diet high in marine n-3 PUFA.

Sustainability of fish stocks

There has been widespread concern at the decline and collapse of major fishing stocks throughout the world because of a near doubling of fish consumption in the last 40 years.³⁶ The large predatory fish biomass today is estimated to be only 10% of pre-industrial levels.²⁷⁹

Depletion of the world's fish stocks and rising fish prices have reduced the affordability of fish for many people throughout the world.²⁷⁹ Aquaculture now accounts for > 25% of the total marine and freshwater harvest.²⁸⁰ Although the conversion of feed to protein is more efficient in fish than in land animals,²⁸¹ aquaculture has significant potential environment impacts.²⁸²

Limited fishing stocks are driving the need to find new food sources of marine n-3 PUFA. Recent technological advances have made it possible for marine n-3 PUFA to be incorporated in various foods, including odourless varieties of marine n-3 PUFA supplements. Howe et al pioneered the use of fishmeal, a waste product of fish processing, to enrich pork, poultry and eggs with DHA. Novel marine n-3 PUFA can be used to enrich everyday foods, such as margarine, milk, luncheon meat, sausages and dips. Foods enriched with marine n-3 can increase plasma concentrations of marine n-3 PUFA to a similar extent as fish oil capsules. In the future, these enriched foods are likely to play a greater role as an alternative to fish and fish oil supplementation to help us to increase our marine n-3 PUFA intake. A recent study showed a favourable TG-lowering effect (16–18% over two three week periods) of eggs enriched with marine n-3 PUFA (240–1280 mg/serve DHA and EPA).

A sustainable source of marine n-3 PUFA is needed to supplement medicines, food additives and aquaculture. Direct algae sources of marine n-3 PUFA have been used in some clinical trials.²⁸⁸ In the near future, non-fish sources of marine n-3 PUFA will become readily available.²⁸⁹ Companies are already producing DHA from *Crypthecodinium* algae through fermentation. Another alternative is genetically engineered plants that accumulate marine n-3 PUFA in their seeds.²⁹⁰

CSIRO scientists are exploring the potential of genetically modified plants as sources of marine n-3 PUFA. If successful, cost-effective plant-based sources of marine n-3 PUFA could solve problems associated with the sustainable management of fish stocks, affordability sources of marine n-3 PUFA, and the dietary requirements of vegetarians and those allergic to fish.²⁷⁷ Initial reports are encouraging. In 2005, a CSIRO team metabolically engineered DHA and EPA into the seed oil of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. The team has further plans to use genetic engineering to increase the amount of n-3 long-chain PUFA in these plants.²⁹¹

Cooking

Fish is usually eaten after cooking. Because fat may be added during cooking, the cardiac benefits of fish consumption depend on how it is cooked. Consumption of fried fish, low in marine n-3 PUFA, and typically eaten from take-away shops, is not associated with lower prevalence of CHD. To In the Cardiovascular Health Study, people who consumed fried fish more than once a week had a 44% higher risk of ischemic stroke than those who consumed fried fish once per month (HR, 1.44; 95% CI, 1.12–1.85). In this study, broiled or baked fish was associated with lower stroke and CHD rates.

Daily requirements of marine n-3 PUFA

Australian recommendations

In 2006, the NHMRC published its *Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand*, which included recommendations on ALA, DHA, EPA and DPA intake for the first time.³⁸

The following adequate intake (AI) (see Table 4) values were set.

- ALA: 1.3 g/day for men and 0.8 g/day for women
- DHA + EPA + DPA: 160 mg/day for men and 90 mg/day for women.

The upper limit (see Table 4) for children, adolescents and adults was set at 3000 mg/day for combined DHA, EPA and DPA. This upper limit is unlikely to be met by the consumption of seafood alone.

No upper limit was set for ALA because there is no known level at which adverse effects occur.

To prevent chronic disease, dietary intakes for DHA, EPA and DPA have been set at the current 90th centile in the population, ⁵⁰ values that are known to be safe and to provide potential benefit. ²⁹² The suggested dietary target (see Table 4) to reduce chronic disease is 610 mg/day for men and 430 mg/day for women. The NHMRC report suggests achieving this by replacing energy-dense low-nutrient foods with marine n-3 PUFA-rich foods, such as oily fish.

The acceptable distribution range of ALA intake to reduce chronic disease risk equates to 0.4–0.5% of total dietary energy at the lower end, and 1% of total dietary energy at the upper end, as relevant for the age- and sex-specific Als. These values were based on intakes to optimise the reduction in chronic disease risk, notably CHD.

Table 4. Australian terms for nutrient recommendations

Suggested dietary targets	These are higher intakes of nutrients that may prevent chronic diseases such as heart disease, certain cancers or high blood pressure.
Adequate intake (AI)	All represents the average daily nutrient intake level that is assumed to be adequate to prevent a deficiency.
Upper limit	This is the highest average daily intake likely to pose no adverse health effects to almost all individuals in the general population.

USA recommendations

A workshop sponsored by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) made recommendations for the dietary intake of marine n-3 and n-6 PUFA. The working group recognised that there is sufficient data to recommend an AI for adults of 650 mg/day of combined DHA and EPA, assuming a 2000 kcal (8400 kJ) diet. This is approximately 0.3% of an adult's daily energy intake.²⁹³ The recommendation was based on the benefit observed at this intake level in the MRFIT study.²⁹⁴ This group

also recommended an AI for adults of 2.22 g/day of ALA and an upper limit of 6.67 g/day of LA. No recommendation was made for DPA.

The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) concluded that daily intake of marine n-3 PUFA should not exceed 3000 mg/day from combined conventional food and dietary supplement sources. The FDA also suggested that dietary supplements should not exceed 2000 mg/day of DHA and EPA.²⁹⁵

Further research: Omega-3 Index

The FA composition of red blood cell membranes reflects the FA composition of the cardiac myocyte membrane and long-term marine n-3 PUFA intake. This biomarker has been termed the 'Omega-3 Index'. It is calculated as the total EPA + DHA content of the red blood cell membrane as a percentage of the total FA in the membrane. The Omega-3 Index was recently established as a graded risk factor for death from CHD. The gradient of risk associated with the Omega-3 Index is steeper than for established risk factors, such as serum concentrations of cholesterol and HDL cholesterol, and the emerging risk factors homocysteine and CRP levels. Reviews of marine n-3 PUFA dosing, and epidemiological and clinical studies strongly suggest that an Omega-3 Index of 8% or more provides a relative CHD risk reduction of 90% compared with an index of less than 4%. 297

To be consistent with current terminology, this new putative risk factor should be classified as an emerging risk factor.²⁹⁸ It provides a useful assessment of baseline risk and the efficacy of dietary or supplementary marine n-3 PUFA therapy. For example, in a dosing study, the intake of 1 g of marine n-3 PUFA supplement for five months increased the omega-3 index from 5% to 13%.²⁹⁸

The Index reflects the intake, absorption and metabolism of marine n-3 PUFA, which can vary considerably between individuals. A recent multivariate population analysis showed that the number of fish servings, age, body mass index and diabetes are independent factors that influence the omega-3 index. ²⁹⁹ However, given the relatively small size of the sample (n = 163), the authors cautioned that further studies are needed to identify which non-dietary factors influence red blood cell marine n-3 PUFA content.

Conclusions

The evidence presented in this review has demonstrated that fish consumption and fish oil supplementation reduce the risk of CVD and CHD. While the review has acknowledged the risks and cautions associated with eating fish, there is sufficient evidence to recommend fish consumption and fish oil supplementation for cardiovascular health for all Australians.

Epidemiological studies

Large epidemiological studies show lower incidence of CHD in populations with high fish consumption. Studies have shown that fish consumption is inversely associated with incidence of CHD, stroke and MI. It is also associated with lower CHD mortality. Blood n-3 PUFA concentration appears to be higher in women than in men, when fish consumption is similar.

Intervention studies

Evidence shows beneficial effects of fish consumption or fish oil supplementation in patients, including:

- less progression of atherosclerosis
- further decrease in the risk of cardiac events and unstable angina when combined with statins.

The Heart Foundation's recommendations on ALA are based on the evidence gathered in the 1999 review paper on dietary fat and CVD.³³

Systematic reviews and meta-analyses

The robust evidence from meta-analyses shows beneficial effects of fish consumption in reducing the risk of total mortality, CHD mortality and stroke.¹⁻⁵

Risks and cautions

Some fish may have relatively high methylmercury content. Consuming these fish should be restricted, particularly in pregnant women and children, who are at the greatest risk of toxicity. Marine n-3 PUFA supplements are, for practical purposes, methylmercury and dioxin free. Dioxin and other PCB levels in Australian fish are very low. The recommended intake of fish with the highest levels of methylmercury or dioxins and PCBs is associated with a very small potential risk. However, it provides significant health benefits beyond reasonable doubt. The absolute risk of seafood-borne illness is extremely low in the type of fish commonly consumed in Australia.

The recommendations from this review are based on compelling scientific evidence. They represent achievable goals and at the same time aim to minimise potential risk associated with seafood intake in certain individuals. The recommendations are consistent with, and extend the, recommendations of national and international organisations including FSANZ, 32,241 the NHRMC (Australia), 48 the AHA (USA), 44,35 the NIH (USA), 47 and the WHO (International).

Terminology and abbreviations

AA Arachidonic acid, omega-6 fatty acid with 20-carbon chain

C20:4n-6

AHA American Heart Association

Al Adequate intake

ALA Alpha-linolenic acid, omega-3 fatty acid with 18-carbon chain

C18:3n-3

CAD Coronary artery disease
CHD Coronary heart disease
CI Confidence interval
COX-2 Cyclooxygenase-2
CRP C-reactive protein

CSIRO Australian Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research

Organisation

CVD Cardiovascular disease

DHA Docosahexaenoic acid, omega-3 fatty acid with 22-carbon

chain C22:6n-3

DPA Docosapentaenoic acid, omega-3 fatty acid with 22-carbon

chain C22:5n-3

EPA Eicosapentaenoic acid, omega-3 fatty acid with 20-carbon

chain C20:5n-3

FA Fatty acid

FAO Food and Agriculture Organization FDA US Food and Drug Administration

Fish oil Oil derived from fish rich in DHA and EPA FSANZ Food Standards Australia and New Zealand

GISSI-P Gruppo Italiano per lo Studio della Sopravvivenza nell'Infarto

Miocardico Prevenzione

HDL High-density lipoprotein

HR Hazard ratio

hs-CRP High-sensitivity C-reactive protein ICD Implantable cardioverter defibrillator

IHD Ischaemic heart disease
IL-1, IL-6 Interleukin 1, interleukin 6
IMT Intima-media thickness

JECFA Joint Expert Committee for Food Additives and Contaminants

JELIS Japan EPA Lipid Intervention Study
JPHC Japan Public Health Center-based Study

LA Linoleic acid, omega-6 fatty acid with 18-carbon chain

C18:2n-6

LDL Low-density lipoprotein

Marine n-3 PUFA Combination of EPA and DHA

MeHg Methylmercury
MI Myocardial infarction
ML Maximum level

n-3 PUFA Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids with first double bond

between 3rd and 4th carbon atoms from terminal methyl

group (ALA, EPA, DPA, DHA)

n-6 PUFA Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids with first double bond

between 6th and 7th end carbon

NF- κ B nuclear transcription factor κ B, a key transcription factor

NHMRC National Health and Medical Research Council

NIH National Institutes of Health (USA)

NNS National Nutrition Survey

NO Nitric oxide

Omega-3 index EPA + DHA as a percentage of total fatty acids in the red

blood cell membrane

OR Odds ratio

PCB Polychlorinated biphenyl
PUFA Polyunsaturated fatty acids
RCT Randomised clinical trial

RR Relative risk

Secondary prevention Long-term treatment to prevent recurrent cardiac morbidity

and mortality and to improve quality of life in people who have either had a prior acute MI or are at high risk of cardiac

events for other reasons

TEQ Toxic equivalent TG Triglycerides

TGA Therapeutic Goods Administration

TNF- α Tumour necrosis factor- α

US EPA United States Environmental Protection Agency

VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor

VF Ventricular fibrillation
VLDL Very low-density lipoprotein
VT Ventricular tachycardia
WHO World Health Organization

Acknowledgements

The Nutrition and Metabolism Committee of the National Heart Foundation of Australia commented on the interim versions of the paper and comprised:

- Manny Noakes (Chair), Health Sciences and Nutrition, CSIRO, South Australia
- Philip Barter, Heart Research Institute, University of Sydney, New South Wales
- Madeleine Ball, School of Human Life Sciences, University of Tasmania, Tasmania
- David Colquhoun, University of Queensland and Wesley and Greenslopes Hospitals, Brisbane, Queensland
- David Crawford, School of Exercise and Nutrition Sciences, Deakin University, Victoria
- Len Kritharides, Discipline of Medicine, Central Clinical School, University of Sydney, New South Wales
- Margaret Miller, Health Promotion Services, Department of Health, Western Australia
- Richard O'Brien, Diabetes Research Group, Monash University, Victoria
- Leon Simons, St Vincent's Hospital, University of New South Wales, New South Wales
- David Sullivan, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, New South Wales
- David Topping, Health Sciences and Nutrition, CSIRO, South Australia
- Peter Abernethy, National Heart Foundation of Australia, Brisbane, Queensland.
- Toni Fear, formerly of National Heart Foundation of Australia, Sydney, New South Wales

Thank you to the external experts who reviewed the final version of the paper:

- Bob Gibson, School of Agriculture, Food and Wine, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide
- Peter Howe, School of Health Sciences, University of South Australia
- Trevor Mori, University of Western Australia, Western Australia
- Paul Nestel, Division of Human Nutrition, CSIRO, Victoria
- Manny Noakes, Health Sciences and Nutrition, CSIRO, South Australia
- John Pearn, School of Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Queensland, Queensland
- Andrew Sinclair, School of Exercise and Nutrition Sciences, Deakin University, Victoria
- Stewart Truswell, Faculty of Medicine, University of Sydney, New South Wales
- Gerald Watts, School of Medicine and Pharmacology, University of Western Australia, Western Australia

Thank you to Laurel McKinnon who assisted in the drafting and editing of the final document.

Thank you to Wendy Morgan (up to 2008) and Monique Cashion (from 2008), the Omega-3 Centre, for providing the table for Appendix 2.

Appendix 1

Table 1. Australian comparison of mercury in fish with national and international recommended levels

Fish species	Total mercury range (μg/150 g serve)	Range of max 150 g serves/wk (FSANZ)	Range of max 150 g serves/wk (US EPA)	Range of max 150 g serves/wk (WHO)	Average mercury level (μg/150 g serve)	Max average 150 g serves/wk (FSANZ)	Max average 150 g serve/wk (US EPA)	Max average 150 g serves/wk (WHO)
Swordfish (f)	4.50-210.00	1.10–51.33	0.23-10.89	0.53–24.89	85.50	2.70	0.57	1.31
Swordfish (h)	69.00– 277.50	0.83–3.35	0.18–0.71	0.40–1.62	147.75	1.56	0.33	0.76
Shark 301	6.00-375.00	0.62-38.50	0.13–8.17	0.30–18.67	98.31	2.35	0.50	1.14
Shark 302	9.00-825.00	0.28–25.67	0.06-5.44	0.14–12.44	129.09	1.79	0.38	0.87
Shark (f)	4.50-643.50	0.36–51.33	0.08-10.89	0.17–24.89	127.50	1.81	0.38	0.88
Shark (t) 303	19.50– 511.50	0.45–11.85	0.10–2.51	0.22–5.74	172.50	1.34	0.28	0.65
Shark 304	4.50-738.00	0.31–51.33	0.07-10.89	0.15–24.89	147.00	1.57	0.33	0.76
Cod (f)	1.50-142.50	1.62-154.00	0.34-32.67	0.79–74.67	45.00	5.13	1.09	2.49
Cod (h)	0.75–195.00	1.18–308.00	0.25-65.33	0.57-149.33	24.00	9.63	2.04	4.67
Fresh tuna (f)	24.00– 199.50	1.16–9.63	0.25–2.04	0.56–4.67	48.00	4.81	1.02	2.33
Fresh tuna (h)	0.75–510.00	0.45-308.00	0.10-65.33	0.22-149.33	33.00	7.00	1.48	3.39
Fresh tuna (m)	19.50– 120.00	1.93–11.85	0.41–2.51	0.93–5.74	55.50	4.16	0.88	2.02
Wild southern bluefin tuna	42.00–63.00	3.67–5.50	0.78–1.17	1.78–2.67	45.00	5.13	1.09	2.49
Farmed southern bluefin tuna	27.00–67.50	3.42–8.56	0.73–1.81	1.66–4.15	46.50	4.97	1.05	2.41
Local canned tuna	6.00–36.00	6.42–38.50	1.36–8.17	3.11–18.67	18.00	12.83	2.72	6.22

Imported canned tuna	1.50–58.50	3.95–154.00	0.84–32.67	1.91–74.67	13.50	17.11	3.63	8.30
Fresh salmon (f)	12.75–13.50	17.11–18.12	3.63-3.84	8.30–8.78	12.00	19.25	4.08	9.33
Fresh salmon (m)	0.75–7.50	30.80– 308.00	6.53–65.33	14.93– 149.33	3.75	61.60	13.07	29.87
Fresh salmon (h)	0.75–42.00	5.50-308.00	1.17–65.33	2.67–149.33	3.75	61.60	13.07	29.87
Local canned salmon 305	22.50–51.00	4.53–10.27	0.96–2.18	2.20–4.98	36.00	6.42	1.36	3.11
Imported canned salmon 305	0.75–61.50	3.76–308.00	0.80–65.33	1.82–149.33	6.00	38.50	8.17	18.67
Snapper 306	1.50-82.50	2.80-154.00	0.59-32.67	1.36–74.67				
Snapper (t)					39.42	5.86	1.24	2.84
Snapper 307					79.50	2.91	0.62	1.41
Red emperor 306	13.50–72.75	3.18–17.11	0.67-3.63	1.54-8.30				
Red emperor 307					44.70	5.17	1.10	2.51
Barramundi 306	4.50-63.75	3.62–51.33	0.77–10.89	1.76–24.89				
Barramundi 307					67.35	3.43	0.73	1.66

Total mercury range is the highest and lowest sample reported in the particular species.

Range of max 150 g serves/wk is calculated as the maximum number of 150 g fish servings a 70 kg person should consume each week. It is assumed that reported mercury content is methylmercury. Sources: FSANZ²⁴¹; US EPA^{233,248,308}; FAO/WHO.²³⁴

Swordfish (f): Fabiansson 2006, personal communication.

Swordfish (h): Hambridge 2006, personal communication.

Shark (f): Fabiansson 2006, personal communication.

Shark (t): Reference range based on taking the lowest (*Squatina Australis*) and highest (*Isurus oxyrinchus*) mean figures for Australian shark species examined to date as shown in Table 3.³⁰³ This table compares the mean of all previous studies on mercury content in shark with the data collected by Turoczy et al. 303 The extremely high mean level of mercury found in *Cephaloscyllium laticeps* of the continental shelf adjacent to Tasmania (2100 µg/200g wet weight) has not been taken into consideration here because its inclusion would have a distorting effect. The value was calculated by adding together the individual mean mercury contents of all of the shark species surveyed in the study (except for Cephaloscyllium laticeps found on the continental shelf adjacent to Tasmania) and divided by the number of surveys.

Cod (f): Fabiansson 2006, personal communication.

Cod (h): Hambridge 2006, personal communication.

Fresh tuna (f): Fabiansson 2006, personal communication.

Fresh tuna (h): Hambridge 2006, personal communication.

Fresh tuna (m): Miller 2006, personal communication. Data collected by the federal government's National Residue Survey. Data approved for release by the Tasmanian Salmonid Growers Association.

Fresh salmon (f): Fabiansson 2006, personal communication.

Fresh salmon (h): Hambridge 2006, personal communication.

Fresh salmon (m): Miller 2006, personal communication. Data collected by the federal government's National Residue Survey. Data approved for release by the Tasmanian Salmonid Growers Association.

Snapper (t): Tinggi 2006, personal communication.

Table 2. Australian comparison of marine n-3 PUFA content in fish with recommended intake

Fish species (manufacturer)	EPA (μg/150 g serve)	DHA (μg/150 g serve)	Total n-3 PUFA (μg/150 g serve)	Serves/wk required for 7000 μg of n-3 PUFA
Swordfish	560	810	1590	4.40
Gummy shark	40	330	440	15.91
Coral cod	20	150	180	38.89
Southern bluefin tuna	30	300	340	20.59
Southern bluefin tuna 309	350	1210	1730	4.05
Skipjack tuna	20	140	170	41.18
Yellowfin tuna	20	150	180	38.89
Canned tuna (Farmland) 310	80	440	560	12.50
Canned tuna (Rex)	80	310	420	16.67
Canned tuna (Greenseas)	40	310	360	19.44
Canned tuna (Ayam)	30	270	320	21.88
Canned tuna (Safcol)	30	230	270	25.93
Atlantic salmon	260	570	1030	6.80
Atlantic salmon 309	710	1720	3210	2.18
Australian salmon 309	140	770	980	7.14
Pink salmon (Farmland)	410	660	1400	5.00
Pink salmon (John West)	390	920	1670	4.19
Pink salmon (Paramount)	830	1430	2850	2.46
Pink salmon (Rex)	400	660	1360	5.15
Australian salmon (Greenseas)	100	570	750	9.33
Australian salmon (Savings)	250	1460	1910	3.66
Australian salmon (Safcol)	480	880	1630	4.29
Red salmon (Farmland)	440	740	1440	4.86

Red salmon (John West)	1330	1950	4110	1.70
Red salmon (Paramount)	930	1480	3200	2.19
Silver salmon (Safcol)	240	1010	1430	4.90
Snapper	40	250	330	21.21
Red emperor	20	150	180	38.89
Freshwater barramundi	20	80	130	53.85
Saltwater barramundi	20	110	150	46.67

Table 3. USA comparison of mercury and marine n-3 PUFA content in fish with recommendations

Fish species	Total mercury range	Range of max 150 g	Range of max 150 g	Range of max 150 g	Average mercury level	Max average 150 g	Max average 150 g	Max average 150 g	EPA (μg/ 150 g	DHA (μg/ 150 g	Total n-3 (μg/	Serves/ wk req'd for 7000
	(μg/150 g serve)	serves/ wk (FSANZ)	serves/ wk (USEPA)	serves/ wk (WHO)	(μg/150 g serve)	serves/ wk (FSANZ)	serve/wk (USEPA)	serves/ wk (WHO)	serve)	serve)	150 g serve)	μg of total n-3 PUFA
Swordfish	15–483	0.48– 15.4	0.1–3.27	0.23– 7.47	145.50	1.59	0.34	0.77	160	800	1240	5.65
Shark	ND-681	0.34– NUL	0.07- NUL	0.16– NUL	148.50	1.56	0.33	0.75	470	790	1520	4.61
Cod	ND-63	3.67– NUL	0.8–NUL	1.76– NUL	16.50	14.00	3.07	6.72				
Atlantic cod									100	180	300	23.33
Pacific cod									120	200	330	21.21
Fresh tuna	ND-195	1.18– NUL	0.25– NUL	0.57– NUL	57.00	4.05	1.13	1.95				
Bluefin tuna									420	1340	2010	3.48
Fresh tuna									110	280	410	17.07
Fresh tuna (m)									60	270	370	18.92
Canned albacore tuna	ND- 127.5	1.81– NUL	0.38– NUL	0.88– NUL	52.50	4.40	0.93	2.13	70	340	440	15.91
Canned light tuna	ND- 127.5	1.81– NUL	0.38– NUL	0.88– NUL	18.00	12.83	2.72	6.22	350	940	1500	4.67
Fresh salmon	ND-28.5	8.11– NUL	1.72– NUL	3.93– NUL	1.50	154.00	32.67	74.67				
Farmed Atlantic salmon									930	1940	3240	2.16
Wild Atlantic									480	1670	3510	1.99

salmon												
Chinook salmon									1510	1420	3800	1.84
Farmed coho salmon (USA species)									580	1230	2090	3.35
Wild coho salmon (USA species)									640	980	2390	2.93
Pink salmon									630	880	1840	3.80
Sockeye salmon									780	980	2110	3.32
Chum salmon (USA species)									350	590	1210	5.79
Canned salmon	ND	NUL	NUL	NUL	ND	NUL	NUL	NUL				
Canned pink salmon									1270	1210	2840	2.46
Canned sockeye salmon									740	1000	2110	3.32
Canned chum salmon									710	1050	2080	3.37
Snapper	ND- 205.50	1.12– NUL	0.24– NUL	0.55– NUL	28.50	8.11	1.72	3.93	80	390	580	12.07

Fresh tuna (m): Miller 2006, personal communication.

Data collected by the federal government's National Residue Survey. Data approved for release by the Tasmanian Salmonid Growers Association.

ND: not detectable. Mercury concentration below the level of detection of 0.01ppm.

NUL: no upper limit.

Appendix 2

Table 1: ALA content of some common foods

Food group	Food	Serving size	ALA mg per serve	
Nuts	Walnut	30 g	1890	
	Pecan nut	30 g	180	
	Hazelnut	30 g	30	
	Tahini	30 g	30	
	Peanuts	30 g	0	
Fats and	Canola oil	1 tbs (20 g)	2000	
oils	Soybean oil	1 tbs (20 g)	1600	
	Oil, poly blend	1 tbs (20 g)	1380	
	Margarine spread, canola-based	1 tbs (20 g)	915	
	Corn oil	1 tbs (20 g)	400	
	Peanut oil	1 tbs (20 g)	400	
	Margarine spread, unsaturated	1 tbs (20 g)	250	
	French dressing, commercial	1 tbs (20 g)	120	
	Coleslaw dressing, commercial	1 tbs (20 g)	20	
	Italian dressing, commercial	1 tbs (20 g)	20	
	Mayonnaise, commercial	1 tbs (20 g)	20	
	Dressings, fat free	1 tbs (20 g)	trace	
Dairy	Cheddar cheese	40 g slice	100	
products	Cheddar cheese, reduced fat	40 g slice	50	
	Cottage cheese	40 g slice	40	
	Milk and yoghurt (low fat)		0.32	
Meat and	Lamb, lean	100 g	48	
poultry	Beef, lean	100 g	27	
	Chicken breast, no skin	100 g	7	
Fruit and	Mushrooms	75 g	430	
vegetables	Spinach	75 g	190	
	Lettuce	75 g	150	
	Green beans	75 g	45	
Breads and	Bread, soy and linseed	2 slices (80 g)	1600	
cereals	Wheat breakfast biscuits	2 slices (56 g)	56	
	Bread, wholemeal	2 slices (56 g)	56	
_	M/ 0007 1			

Sources: Morgan W. 2007, personal communication ³¹¹ Bread and cereals: Source ³¹²

Data correct as at November 2007.

References

- 1. He K, Song Y, Daviglus ML, Liu K, Van Horn L, Dyer AR and Greenland P: Accumulated evidence on fish consumption and coronary heart disease mortality: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. Circulation. 109: 2705-11, 2004.
- 2. Whelton SP, He J, Whelton PK and Muntner P: Meta-analysis of observational studies on fish intake and coronary heart disease. Am J Cardiol. 93: 1119-23, 2004.
- 3. He K, Song Y, Daviglus ML, Liu K, Van Horn L, Dyer AR, Goldbourt U and Greenland P: Fish consumption and incidence of stroke: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. Stroke. 35: 1538-42, 2004.
- 4. Bouzan C, Cohen JT, Connor WE, Kris-Etherton PM, Gray GM, Konig A, Lawrence RS, Savitz DA and Teutsch SM: A quantitative analysis of fish consumption and stroke risk. Am J Prev Med. 29: 347-52, 2005.
- 5. Konig A, Bouzan C, Cohen JT, Connor WE, Kris-Etherton PM, Gray GM, Lawrence RS, Savitz DA and Teutsch SM: A quantitative analysis of fish consumption and coronary heart disease mortality. Am J Prev Med. 29: 335-46. 2005.
- 6. de Lorgeril M, Renaud S, Mamelle N, Salen P, Martin JL, Monjaud I, Guidollet J, Touboul P and Delaye J: Mediterranean alpha-linolenic acid-rich diet in secondary prevention of coronary heart disease. Lancet. 343: 1454-9, 1994.
- 7. de Lorgeril M, Salen P, Martin JL, Monjaud I, Delaye J and Mamelle N: Mediterranean diet, traditional risk factors, and the rate of cardiovascular complications after myocardial infarction: final report of the Lyon Diet Heart Study. Circulation. 99: 779-85, 1999.
- 8. Singh RB, Niaz MA, Sharma JP, Kumar R, Rastogi V and Moshiri M: Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of fish oil and mustard oil in patients with suspected acute myocardial infarction: the Indian experiment of infarct survival--4. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther. 11: 485-91, 1997.
- 9. Dietary supplementation with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and vitamin E after myocardial infarction: results of the GISSI-Prevenzione trial. Gruppo Italiano per lo Studio della Sopravvivenza nell'Infarto miocardico. Lancet. 354: 447-55, 1999.
- 10. Yokoyama M, Origasa H, Matsuzaki M, Matsuzawa Y, Saito Y, Ishikawa Y, Oikawa S, Sasaki J, Hishida H, Itakura H *et al.*: Effects of eicosapentaenoic acid on major coronary events in hypercholesterolaemic patients (JELIS): a randomised open-label, blinded endpoint analysis. Lancet. 369: 1090-8, 2007.
- 11. von Schacky C, Angerer P, Kothny W, Theisen K and Mudra H: The effect of dietary omega-3 fatty acids on coronary atherosclerosis. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Ann Intern Med. 130: 554-62, 1999.
- 12. Brouwer IA, Zock PL, Camm AJ, Bocker D, Hauer RN, Wever EF, Dullemeijer C, Ronden JE, Katan MB, Lubinski A *et al.*: Effect of fish oil on ventricular tachyarrhythmia and death in patients with implantable cardioverter defibrillators: the Study on Omega-3 Fatty Acids and Ventricular Arrhythmia (SOFA) randomized trial. JAMA. 295: 2613-9, 2006.
- 13. Brouwer I: SOFA: Study on Omega-3 Fatty acid and ventricular arrhythmia. http://www.escardio.org/knowledge/OnlineLearning/slides/ESC_Congress_20_05/BrouwerFP1336, Presented at the Hotline II Session of the European Society of Cardiology meeting in Stockholm, 5 September 2005.
- 14. Macchia A, Levantesi G, Franzosi MG, Geraci E, Maggioni AP, Marfisi R, Nicolosi GL, Schweiger C, Tavazzi L, Tognoni G *et al.*: Left ventricular systolic dysfunction, total mortality, and sudden death in patients with

- myocardial infarction treated with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Eur J Heart Fail. 7: 904-9, 2005.
- 15. Marchioli R, Barzi F, Bomba E, Chieffo C, Di Gregorio D, Di Mascio R, Franzosi MG, Geraci E, Levantesi G, Maggioni AP *et al.*: Early protection against sudden death by n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids after myocardial infarction: time-course analysis of the results of the Gruppo Italiano per lo Studio della Sopravvivenza nell'Infarto Miocardico (GISSI)-Prevenzione. Circulation. 105: 1897-903, 2002.
- 16. Raitt M, Connor W, Morris C, Kron J, Halperin B, Chugh SS, McClelland J, Cook J, MacMurdy K, Swenson R *et al.*: Fish oil supplementation and risk of ventricular tachycardia and ventricular fibrillation in patients with implantable defibrillators: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 293: 2884-91, 2005.
- 17. Harris WS: n-3 fatty acids and serum lipoproteins: human studies. Am J Clin Nutr. 65: 1645S-1654S, 1997.
- 18. Milte C, Coates A, Buckley J, Hill A and Howe P: Dose-dependent effects of docosahexaenoic acid-rich fish oil on erythrocyte docosahexaenoic acid and blood lipid levels. Br J Nutr. Oct 31: 1-6, 2007.
- 19. Balk EM, Lichtenstein AH, Chung M, Kupelnick B, Chew P and Lau J: Effects of omega-3 fatty acids on serum markers of cardiovascular disease risk: a systematic review. Atherosclerosis. 189: 19-30, 2006.
- 20. Nestel P: Effects of fish oils and fish on cardiovascular disease. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 3: 68-73, 2001.
- 21. Nambi V and Ballantyne CM: Combination therapy with statins and omega-3 fatty acids. Am J Cardiol. 98: 34i-38i, 2006.
- 22. Durrington PN, Bhatnagar D, Mackness MI, Morgan J, Julier K, Khan MA and France M: An omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid concentrate administered for one year decreased triglycerides in simvastatin treated patients with coronary heart disease and persisting hypertriglyceridaemia. Heart. 85: 544-8. 2001.
- 23. Nordoy A, Bonaa KH, Nilsen H, Berge RK, Hansen JB and Ingebretsen OC: Effects of Simvastatin and omega-3 fatty acids on plasma lipoproteins and lipid peroxidation in patients with combined hyperlipidaemia. J Intern Med. 243: 163-70, 1998.
- 24. Nordoy A, Bonaa KH, Sandset PM, Hansen JB and Nilsen H: Effect of omega-3 fatty acids and simvastatin on hemostatic risk factors and postprandial hyperlipemia in patients with combined hyperlipemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 20: 259-65, 2000.
- 25. Chan DC, Watts GF, Barrett PH, Beilin LJ and Mori TA: Effect of atorvastatin and fish oil on plasma high-sensitivity C-reactive protein concentrations in individuals with visceral obesity. Clin Chem. 48: 877-83, 2002.
- 26. Meyer B, Hammervold T, Rustan A and Howe P: Dose-dependent effects of docosahexaenoic acid supplementation on blood lipids in statin-treated hyperlipidaemic subjects. Lipids. 42: 109-15, 2007.
- 27. Rumberger JA, Behrenbeck T, Breen JF and Sheedy PF, 2nd: Coronary calcification by electron beam computed tomography and obstructive coronary artery disease: a model for costs and effectiveness of diagnosis as compared with conventional cardiac testing methods. J Am Coll Cardiol. 33: 453-62, 1999.
- 28. Virtanen JK, Voutilainen S, Rissanen TH, Mursu J, Tuomainen TP, Korhonen MJ, Valkonen VP, Seppanen K, Laukkanen JA and Salonen JT: Mercury, fish oils, and risk of acute coronary events and cardiovascular disease, coronary heart disease, and all-cause mortality in men in eastern Finland. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 25: 228-33, 2005.
- 29. Cohen JT, Bellinger DC, Connor WE, Kris-Etherton PM, Lawrence RS, Savitz DA, Shaywitz BA, Teutsch SM and Gray GM: A quantitative risk-benefit

- analysis of changes in population fish consumption. Am J Prev Med. 29: 325-34, 2005.
- 30. Mozaffarian D and Rimm EB: Fish intake, contaminants, and human health: evaluating the risks and the benefits. JAMA. 296: 1885-99, 2006.
- 31. Therapeutic Goods Administration: Compositional guideline. Fish oil from the liver of fish, Department of Health and Ageing, 2000.
- 32. Food Standards Australia New Zealand: Dioxins in food. Dietary exposure assessment and risk characterisation: *Technical Report Series*. Canberra, FSANZ, May 2004.
- 33. National Heart Foundation of Australia: A review of the relationship between dietary fat and cardiovascular disease. Nutrition and Dietetics. 56: S1-S22, 1999.
- 34. Kris-Etherton PM, Harris WS and Appel LJ: Fish consumption, fish oil, omega-3 fatty acids, and cardiovascular disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 23: e20-30, 2003.
- 35. Kris-Etherton PM, Harris WS and Appel LJ: Omega-3 fatty acids and cardiovascular disease: new recommendations from the American Heart Association. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 23: 151-2, 2003.
- 36. World Health Organization: Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. Report of the joint WHO/FAO expert consultation. Geneva, WHO, 2003.
- 37. US Dept of Health and Human Services: 2005 Dietary Guidelines Advisory Committee Report: *Dietary Guidelines for Americans*, USDA, 2005.
- 38. National Health and Medical Research Council: Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand including Recommended Dietary Intakes, NHMRC, 2006.
- 39. Food Standards Australia New Zealand: Claims in Relation to Omega Fatty Acid Content of Foods: *Canberra Commonwealth of Australia Gazette P30*, 2000, pp 68-9.
- 40. Food Standards Australia New Zealand: Technical report: diet-disease relationships. Access: http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/ srcfiles/P293%20Att%205%20For%20web site%20-%20Diet%20Disease%20relationships.pdf, 2007.
- 41. Roskoski R: *Biochemistry*. Philadelphia WB Saunders Co, 1996.
- 42. Gebauer SK, Psota TL, Harris WS and Kris-Etherton PM: n-3 fatty acid dietary recommendations and food sources to achieve essentiality and cardiovascular benefits. Am J Clin Nutr. 83: 1526S-1535S, 2006.
- 43. Holman RT and Johnson SB: Linolenic acid deficiency in man. Nutr Rev. 40: 144-7, 1982.
- 44. Anderson GJ and Connor WE: On the demonstration of omega-3 essential-fatty-acid deficiency in humans. Am J Clin Nutr. 49: 585-7, 1989.
- 45. Arterburn LM, Hall EB and Oken H: Distribution, interconversion, and dose response of n-3 fatty acids in humans. Am J Clin Nutr. 83: 1467S-1476S, 2006.
- 46. Mori TA and Woodman RJ: The independent effects of eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid on cardiovascular risk factors in humans. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 9: 95-104, 2006.
- 47. Howe P, Clifton P and James M: Equal antithrombotic and triglyceride-lowering effectiveness of eicosapentaenoic acid-rich and docosahexaenoic acid-rich fish oil supplements. Lipids. 34: S307-8, 1999.
- 48. Howe P, Meyer BJ, Record S and Baghurst K: Contribution of red meat to very long chain omega-3 fatty acid (VLCOmega3) intake. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 12: S27, 2003.

- 49. Howe P, Meyer B, Record S and Baghurst K: Dietary intake of long-chain omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids: contribution of meat sources. Nutrition. 22: 47-53, 2006.
- 50. Howe P, Buckley J and Meyer B: Red meat: a source of long chain omega-3. Nutr Diet. 64: S135-139, 2007.
- 51. Fisheries Research and Development Corporation: A study of the retail sale and in-home consumption of seafood in Sydney. Canberra, Commonwealth Dept of Agriculture, Fishery and Forestry, 1998.
- 52. Fisheries Research and Development Corporation: A study of seafood consumption in Perth. Canberra, Commonwealth Dept of Agriculture, Fishery and Forestry, 1999.
- 53. Fisheries Research and Development Corporation: The retail, sale and consumption of seafood in Melbourne. Canberra, Commonwealth Dept of Agriculture, Fishery and Forestry, 2004.
- 54. Simopoulos A: Evolutionary aspects of nutrition and health: diet, exercise, genetics and chronic disease. World Rev Nutr Diet 84: 1-146, 1999.
- 55. Eaton Sr, Sinclair A, Cordain L and Mann N: Dietary intake of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids during the Paleolithic period. World Rev Nutr Diet. 83: 12-23, 1998.
- 56. Sanders TA: Polyunsaturated fatty acids in the food chain in Europe. Am J Clin Nutr. 71: 176S-8S, 2000.
- 57. de Lorgeril M and Salen P: Dietary prevention of coronary heart disease: focus on omega-6/omega-3 essential fatty acid balance. World Rev Nutr Diet. 92: 57-73, 2003.
- 58. Siscovick DS, Lemaitre RN and Mozaffarian D: The fish story: a diet-heart hypothesis with clinical implications: n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, myocardial vulnerability, and sudden death. Circulation. 107: 2632-4, 2003.
- 59. Din JN, Newby DE and Flapan AD: Omega 3 fatty acids and cardiovascular disease--fishing for a natural treatment. BMJ. 328: 30-5, 2004.
- 60. Cheng T: Cardiology in People's Republic of China Paul D White Lecture, in Russek H: *New Horizons in Cardiovascular Practice*. Baltimore, University Park Press, 1975, pp 1-27.
- 61. Cheng TO: Fish consumption and coronary artery disease in China. Circulation. 109: e155-6; author reply e155-6, 2004.
- 62. Yuan JM, Ross RK, Gao YT and Yu MC: Fish and shellfish consumption in relation to death from myocardial infarction among men in Shanghai, China. Am J Epidemiol. 154: 809-16, 2001.
- 63. Bang H and Dyerberg J: The composition of food consumed by Greenlandic Eskimos. Acta Med Scand. 200: 69-73, 1973.
- 64. Dyerberg J and Bang HO: Haemostatic function and platelet polyunsaturated fatty acids in Eskimos. Lancet. 2: 433-5, 1979.
- 65. Dyerberg J and Bang HO: Lipid metabolism, atherogenesis, and haemostasis in Eskimos: the role of the prostaglandin-3 family. Haemostasis. 8: 227-33, 1979
- 66. Keys A, Menotti A, Aravanis C, Blackburn H, Djordevic B, Buzina R, Dontas A, Fidanza F, Karvonen M and Kimura N: The seven countries study: 2,289 deaths in 15 years. Prev Med. 13: 141-54, 1984.
- 67. Simopoulos A: The Mediterranean diets: what is so special about the diet of Greece. J Nutr 131: 3065S-3073S, 2001.
- 68. Toshima H, Koga Y, Menotti A, Keys A, Blackburn H, Jacobs DR and Seccareccia F: The seven countries study in Japan. Twenty-five-year experience in cardiovascular and all-causes deaths. Jpn Heart J. 36: 179-89, 1995.
- 69. Sandker GW, Kromhout D, Aravanis C, Bloemberg BP, Mensink RP, Karalias N and Katan MB: Serum cholesteryl ester fatty acids and their relation with

- serum lipids in elderly men in Crete and The Netherlands. Eur J Clin Nutr. 47: 201-8, 1993.
- 70. Welch AA, Bingham SA, Ive J, Friesen MD, Wareham NJ, Riboli E and Khaw KT: Dietary fish intake and plasma phospholipid n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid concentrations in men and women in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer-Norfolk United Kingdom cohort. Am J Clin Nutr. 84: 1330-9, 2006.
- 71. Osler M, Andreasen AH and Hoidrup S: No inverse association between fish consumption and risk of death from all-causes, and incidence of coronary heart disease in middle-aged, Danish adults. J Clin Epidemiol. 56: 274-9, 2003.
- 72. Iso H, Kobayashi M, Ishihara J, Sasaki S, Okada K, Kita Y, Kokubo Y and Tsugane S: Intake of fish and n3 fatty acids and risk of coronary heart disease among Japanese: the Japan Public Health Center-Based (JPHC) Study Cohort I. Circulation. 113: 195-202, 2006.
- 73. Nakamura Y, Ueshima H, Okamura T, Kadowaki T, Hayakawa T, Kita Y, Tamaki S and Okayama A: Association between fish consumption and all-cause and cause-specific mortality in Japan: NIPPON DATA80, 1980-99. Am J Med. 118: 239-45, 2005.
- 74. Mozaffarian D, Longstreth WT, Jr., Lemaitre RN, Manolio TA, Kuller LH, Burke GL and Siscovick DS: Fish consumption and stroke risk in elderly individuals: the cardiovascular health study. Arch Intern Med. 165: 200-6, 2005.
- 75. Mozaffarian D, Lemaitre RN, Kuller LH, Burke GL, Tracy RP and Siscovick DS: Cardiac benefits of fish consumption may depend on the type of fish meal consumed: the Cardiovascular Health Study. Circulation. 107: 1372-7, 2003.
- 76. Hino A, Adachi H, Toyomasu K, Yoshida N, Enomoto M, Hiratsuka A, Hirai Y, Satoh A and Imaizumi T: Very long chain n-3 fatty acids intake and carotid atherosclerosis: an epidemiological study evaluated by ultrasonography. Atherosclerosis. 176: 145-9, 2004.
- 77. Billman GE, Hallaq H and Leaf A: Prevention of ischemia-induced ventricular fibrillation by omega 3 fatty acids. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 91: 4427-30, 1994.
- 78. Leaf A, Kang JX, Xiao YF and Billman GE: Clinical prevention of sudden cardiac death by n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and mechanism of prevention of arrhythmias by n-3 fish oils. Circulation. 107: 2646-52, 2003.
- 79. Siscovick DS, Raghunathan TE, King I, Weinmann S, Wicklund KG, Albright J, Bovbjerg V, Arbogast P, Smith H, Kushi LH *et al.*: Dietary intake and cell membrane levels of long-chain n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and the risk of primary cardiac arrest. JAMA. 274: 1363-7, 1995.
- 80. Raxwal V, Tadros P, Vacek J, Porter C, Wilson D and Candipan R: Do Omega-3 Fatty Acids/Fish Oil reduce mortality in patients without Coronary Artery Disease?: 55th Annual Scientific Session of the American College of Cardiology, 2006.
- 81. McLennan PL and Abeywardena MY: Membrane basis for fish oil effects on the heart: linking natural hibernators to prevention of human sudden cardiac death. J Membr Biol. 206: 85-102, 2005.
- 82. Schrepf R, Limmert T, Claus Weber P, Theisen K and Sellmayer A: Immediate effects of n-3 fatty acid infusion on the induction of sustained ventricular tachycardia. Lancet. 363: 1441-2, 2004.
- 83. Sacks FM, Stone PH, Gibson CM, Silverman DI, Rosner B and Pasternak RC: Controlled trial of fish oil for regression of human coronary atherosclerosis. HARP Research Group. J Am Coll Cardiol. 25: 1492-8, 1995.

- 84. Watts GF, Jackson P, Burke V and Lewis B: Dietary fatty acids and progression of coronary artery disease in men. Am J Clin Nutr. 64: 202-9, 1996.
- 85. Erkkila AT, Lichtenstein AH, Mozaffarian D and Herrington DM: Fish intake is associated with a reduced progression of coronary artery atherosclerosis in postmenopausal women with coronary artery disease. Am J Clin Nutr. 80: 626-32, 2004.
- 86. Rapp JH, Connor WE, Lin DS and Porter JM: Dietary eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid from fish oil. Their incorporation into advanced human atherosclerotic plaques. Arterioscler Thromb. 11: 903-11, 1991.
- 87. Thies F, Garry JM, Yaqoob P, Rerkasem K, Williams J, Shearman CP, Gallagher PJ, Calder PC and Grimble RF: Association of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids with stability of atherosclerotic plaques: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 361: 477-85, 2003.
- 88. Davis HR, Bridenstine RT, Vesselinovitch D and Wissler RW: Fish oil inhibits development of atherosclerosis in rhesus monkeys. Arteriosclerosis. 7: 441-9, 1987.
- 89. Zampolli A, Bysted A, Leth T, Mortensen A, De Caterina R and Falk E: Contrasting effect of fish oil supplementation on the development of atherosclerosis in murine models. Atherosclerosis. 184: 78-85, 2006.
- 90. Angerer P, Kothny W, Stork S and von Schacky C: Effect of dietary supplementation with omega-3 fatty acids on progression of atherosclerosis in carotid arteries. Cardiovasc Res. 54: 183-90, 2002.
- 91. Wang HH, Hung TM, Wei J and Chiang AN: Fish oil increases antioxidant enzyme activities in macrophages and reduces atherosclerotic lesions in apoE-knockout mice. Cardiovasc Res. 61: 169-76, 2004.
- 92. Johansen O, Brekke M, Seljeflot I, Abdelnoor M and Arnesen H: N-3 fatty acids do not prevent restenosis after coronary angioplasty: results from the CART study. Coronary Angioplasty Restenosis Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 33: 1619-26, 1999.
- 93. Eritsland J, Arnesen H, Gronseth K, Fjeld NB and Abdelnoor M: Effect of dietary supplementation with n-3 fatty acids on coronary artery bypass graft patency. Am J Cardiol. 77: 31-6, 1996.
- 94. Mozaffarian D, Psaty BM, Rimm EB, Lemaitre RN, Burke GL, Lyles MF, Lefkowitz D and Siscovick DS: Fish intake and risk of incident atrial fibrillation. Circulation. 110: 368-73, 2004.
- 95. Jahangiri A, Leifert WR, Patten GS and McMurchie EJ: Termination of asynchronous contractile activity in rat atrial myocytes by n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Mol Cell Biochem. 206: 33-41, 2000.
- 96. Ninio D, Murphy K, Howe P and Saint D: Dietary fish oil protects against stretch-induced vulnerability to atrial fibrillation in the rabbit. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 16: 1189-94, 2005.
- 97. Calo L, Bianconi L, Colivicchi F, Lamberti F, Loricchio ML, de Ruvo E, Meo A, Pandozi C, Staibano M and Santini M: N-3 Fatty acids for the prevention of atrial fibrillation after coronary artery bypass surgery: a randomized, controlled trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 45: 1723-8, 2005.
- 98. Aizer A, Gaziano J, Manson J, Buring J and Albert C: Relationship between fish consumption and the development of atrial fibrillation in men. Abstract AB03-2: 2006 Heart Rhythm Society meeting. Boston, 18 May 2006.
- 99. Greenland P, Daviglus ML, Dyer AR, Liu K, Huang CF, Goldberger JJ and Stamler J: Resting heart rate is a risk factor for cardiovascular and noncardiovascular mortality: the Chicago Heart Association Detection Project in Industry. Am J Epidemiol. 149: 853-62, 1999.

- 100. Kannel WB, Kannel C, Paffenbarger RS, Jr. and Cupples LA: Heart rate and cardiovascular mortality: the Framingham Study. Am Heart J. 113: 1489-94, 1987.
- 101. Savonen KP, Lakka TA, Laukkanen JA, Halonen PM, Rauramaa TH, Salonen JT and Rauramaa R: Heart rate response during exercise test and cardiovascular mortality in middle-aged men. Eur Heart J. 27: 582-8, 2006.
- 102. Seccareccia F, Pannozzo F, Dima F, Minoprio A, Menditto A, Lo Noce C and Giampaoli S: Heart rate as a predictor of mortality: the MATISS project. Am J Public Health. 91: 1258-63, 2001.
- 103. O'Keefe JH, Jr., Abuissa H, Sastre A, Steinhaus DM and Harris WS: Effects of omega-3 fatty acids on resting heart rate, heart rate recovery after exercise, and heart rate variability in men with healed myocardial infarctions and depressed ejection fractions. Am J Cardiol. 97: 1127-30, 2006.
- 104. Hjalmarson A: Significance of reduction in heart rate in cardiovascular disease. Clin Cardiol. 21: II3-7, 1998.
- 105. Smith LL, Kukielka M and Billman GE: Heart rate recovery after exercise: a predictor of ventricular fibrillation susceptibility after myocardial infarction. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 288: H1763-9, 2005.
- 106. Nageswari K, Banerjee R and Menon VP: Effect of saturated, omega-3 and omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids on myocardial infarction. J Nutr Biochem. 10: 338-44, 1999.
- 107. Landmark K, Abdelnoor M, Urdal P, Kilhovd B, Dorum HP, Borge N and Refvem H: Use of fish oils appears to reduce infarct size as estimated from peak creatine kinase and lactate dehydrogenase activities. Cardiology. 89: 94-102, 1998.
- 108. Burchfiel CM, Reed DM, Strong JP, Sharp DS, Chyou PH and Rodriguez BL: Predictors of myocardial lesions in men with minimal coronary atherosclerosis at autopsy. The Honolulu heart program. Ann Epidemiol. 6: 137-46, 1996.
- 109. Pepe S and McLennan PL: Cardiac membrane fatty acid composition modulates myocardial oxygen consumption and postischemic recovery of contractile function. Circulation. 105: 2303-8, 2002.
- 110. Salachas A, Papadopoulos C, Sakadamis G, Styliadis J, Voudris V, Oakley D and Saynor R: Effects of a low-dose fish oil concentrate on angina, exercise tolerance time, serum triglycerides, and platelet function. Angiology. 45: 1023-31, 1994.
- 111. Saynor R, Gillott T and Doyle T: Clinical studies on the effect of dietary n-3 and n-6 fatty acids on serum lipids, haemostasis and GTN consumption. Prog Lipid Res. 25: 211-7, 1986.
- 112. Yamamoto H, Yoshimura H, Noma M, Suzuki S, Kai H, Tajimi T, Sugihara M and Kikuchi Y: Improvement of coronary vasomotion with eicosapentaenoic acid does not inhibit acetylcholine-induced coronary vasospasm in patients with variant angina. Jpn Circ J. 59: 608-16, 1995.
- 113. Burr ML, Fehily AM, Gilbert JF, Rogers S, Holliday RM, Sweetnam PM, Elwood PC and Deadman NM: Effects of changes in fat, fish, and fibre intakes on death and myocardial reinfarction: diet and reinfarction trial (DART). Lancet. 2: 757-61, 1989.
- 114. Ness AR, Ashfield-Watt PA, Whiting JM, Smith GD, Hughes J and Burr ML: The long-term effect of dietary advice on the diet of men with angina: the diet and angina randomized trial. J Hum Nutr Diet. 17: 117-9, 2004.
- 115. Burr ML, Ashfield-Watt PA, Dunstan FD, Fehily AM, Breay P, Ashton T, Zotos PC, Haboubi NA and Elwood PC: Lack of benefit of dietary advice to men with angina: results of a controlled trial. Eur J Clin Nutr. 57: 193-200, 2003.
- 116. Ness AR, Hughes J, Elwood PC, Whitley E, Smith GD and Burr ML: The long-term effect of dietary advice in men with coronary disease: follow-up of the Diet and Reinfarction trial (DART). Eur J Clin Nutr. 56: 512-8, 2002.

- 117. Hamazaki T: The first randomized clinical trial of 2 y to prevent reinfarction with fish oil. Eur J Clin Nutr. 58: 1557, 2004.
- 118. Burr ML, Dunstan FD and George CH: Is fish oil good or bad for heart disease? Two trials with apparently conflicting results. J Membr Biol. 206: 155-63, 2005.
- 119. Johnston P: The ORIGIN Trial (Outcome Reduction With Initial Glargine Intervention), National Library of Medicine, 2007.
- 120. Tavazzi L, Tognoni G, Franzosi MG, Latini R, Maggioni AP, Marchioli R, Nicolosi GL and Porcu M: Rationale and design of the GISSI heart failure trial: a large trial to assess the effects of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and rosuvastatin in symptomatic congestive heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail. 6: 635-41, 2004.
- 121. Geleijnse JM, Schouten EG and Kromhout D: Alpha Omega Trial: Results from the pilot study, 2005.
- 122. Harris WS, Poston WC and Haddock CK: Tissue n-3 and n-6 fatty acids and risk for coronary heart disease events. Atherosclerosis. 193: 1-10, 2007.
- 123. Hooper L, Thompson RL, Harrison RA, Summerbell CD, Moore H, Worthington HV, Durrington PN, Ness AR, Capps NE, Davey Smith G *et al.*: Omega 3 fatty acids for prevention and treatment of cardiovascular disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev: CD003177, 2004.
- 124. Ness AR, Gunnell D, Hughes J, Elwood PC, Davey Smith G and Burr ML: Height, body mass index, and survival in men with coronary disease: follow up of the diet and reinfarction trial (DART). J Epidemiol Community Health. 56: 218-9. 2002.
- 125. Hooper L, Thompson RL, Harrison RA, Summerbell CD, Ness AR, Moore HJ, Worthington HV, Durrington PN, Higgins JP, Capps NE *et al.*: Risks and benefits of omega 3 fats for mortality, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: systematic review. BMJ. 332: 752-60, 2006.
- 126. Cleland JG, Freemantle N, Coletta AP and Clark AL: Clinical trials update from the American Heart Association: REPAIR-AMI, ASTAMI, JELIS, MEGA, REVIVE-II, SURVIVE, and PROACTIVE. Eur J Heart Fail. 8: 105-10, 2006.
- 127. Yokoyama M and Origasa H: Effects of eicosapentaenoic acid on cardiovascular events in Japanese patients with hypercholesterolemia: rationale, design, and baseline characteristics of the Japan EPA Lipid Intervention Study (JELIS). Am Heart J. 146: 613-20, 2003.
- 128. Moher D and Tsertsvadze A: Systematic reviews: when is an update an update? Lancet. 367: 881-3, 2006.
- 129. Lund E: Letter to the Editor Omega 3 fats and health criteria for inclusion in the systematic review, 27 March 2006, pp BMJ Online.
- 130. Siscovick D and Willett W: Letter to the Editor Understanding the risks and benefits of fish and omega-3 fatty acid intake, 28 March 2006, pp BMJ Online.
- 131. He K and Song Y: A few thoughts on Hooper's systematic review of omega-3 fats, 27 March 2006, pp BMJ Online.
- 132. Rice R: Letter to the Editor A disservice to public health, 28 March 2006, pp BMJ Online.
- 133. Hooper L, Thompson R, Harrison R, Summerbell C, Ness A, Moore H, Worthington H, Durrington P, Higgins J, Capps N *et al.*: Letter to the Editor Authors' reply Omega 3s and Health, 7 April 2006, pp BMJ Online.
- 134. Scott I, Greenberg P, Poole P and Campbell D: Cautionary tales in the interpretation of systematic reviews of therapy trials. Intern Med J. 36: 587-99, 2006.
- 135. Kris-Etherton PM and Harris WS: Adverse effect of fish oils in patients with angina? Curr Atheroscler Rep. 6: 413-4, 2004.

- 136. Wang C, Chung M, Lichtenstein A, Balk E, Kupelnick B, DeVine D, Lawrence A and Lau J: Effects of omega-3 fatty acids on cardiovascular disease. Evid Rep Technol Assess: 1-8, 2004.
- 137. Studer M, Briel M, Leimenstoll B, Glass TR and Bucher HC: Effect of different antilipidemic agents and diets on mortality: a systematic review. Arch Intern Med. 165: 725-30, 2005.
- 138. Barberger-Gateau P, Jutand MA, Letenneur L, Larrieu S, Tavernier B and Berr C: Correlates of regular fish consumption in French elderly community dwellers: data from the Three-City study. Eur J Clin Nutr. 59: 817-25, 2005.
- 139. Galobardes B, Morabia A and Bernstein MS: Diet and socioeconomic position: does the use of different indicators matter? Int J Epidemiol. 30: 334-40, 2001.
- 140. Hibbeln JR: Fish consumption and major depression. Lancet. 351: 1213, 1998.
- 141. Bunker SJ, Colquhoun DM, Esler MD, Hickie IB, Hunt D, Jelinek VM, Oldenburg BF, Peach HG, Ruth D, Tennant CC *et al.*: "Stress" and coronary heart disease: psychosocial risk factors. Med J Aust. 178: 272-6, 2003.
- 142. Gawrisch K, Eldho NV and Holte LL: The structure of DHA in phospholipid membranes. Lipids. 38: 445-52, 2003.
- 143. Rajamoorthi K, Petrache HI, McIntosh TJ and Brown MF: Packing and viscoelasticity of polyunsaturated omega-3 and omega-6 lipid bilayers as seen by (2)H NMR and X-ray diffraction. J Am Chem Soc. 127: 1576-88, 2005.
- 144. Salem N, Jr., Litman B, Kim HY and Gawrisch K: Mechanisms of action of docosahexaenoic acid in the nervous system. Lipids. 36: 945-59, 2001.
- 145. Serhan CN, Hong S, Gronert K, Colgan SP, Devchand PR, Mirick G and Moussignac RL: Resolvins: a family of bioactive products of omega-3 fatty acid transformation circuits initiated by aspirin treatment that counter proinflammation signals. J Exp Med. 196: 1025-37, 2002.
- 146. Serhan CN: Novel eicosanoid and docosanoid mediators: resolvins, docosatrienes, and neuroprotectins. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 8: 115-21, 2005.
- 147. Deckelbaum RJ, Worgall TS and Seo T: n-3 fatty acids and gene expression. Am J Clin Nutr. 83: 1520S-1525S, 2006.
- 148. Li H, Ruan XZ, Powis SH, Fernando R, Mon WY, Wheeler DC, Moorhead JF and Varghese Z: EPA and DHA reduce LPS-induced inflammation responses in HK-2 cells: evidence for a PPAR-gamma-dependent mechanism. Kidney Int. 67: 867-74, 2005.
- 149. Radominska-Pandya A and Chen G: Photoaffinity labeling of human retinoid X receptor beta (RXRbeta) with 9-cis-retinoic acid: identification of phytanic acid, docosahexaenoic acid, and lithocholic acid as ligands for RXRbeta. Biochemistry. 41: 4883-90, 2002.
- 150. Harris WS, Ginsberg HN, Arunakul N, Shachter NS, Windsor SL, Adams M, Berglund L and Osmundsen K: Safety and efficacy of Omacor in severe hypertriglyceridemia. J Cardiovasc Risk. 4: 385-91, 1997.
- 151. Nestel P, Topping D, Marsh J, Wong S, Barrett H, Roach P and Kambouris B: Effects of polyenoic fatty acids (n-3) on lipid and lipoprotein metabolism, in Lands W: *Polyunsaturated fatty acids and eicosanoids*. Illinois, American Oil Chemists' Society, 1987, pp 94-102.
- 152. Roach P, Kambouris A, Trimble R, Topping D and Nestel P: Fish oil downregulates the low density lipoprotein receptor and upregulates the high density receptor of rat liver. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology 7: 533a, 1987.
- 153. Mori TA, Burke V, Puddey IB, Watts GF, O'Neal DN, Best JD and Beilin LJ: Purified eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids have differential

- effects on serum lipids and lipoproteins, LDL particle size, glucose, and insulin in mildly hyperlipidemic men. Am J Clin Nutr. 71: 1085-94, 2000.
- 154. Okuda N, Ueshima H, Okayama A, Saitoh S, Nakagawa H, Rodriguez BL, Sakata K, Choudhury SR, Curb JD and Stamler J: Relation of long chain n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid intake to serum high density lipoprotein cholesterol among Japanese men in Japan and Japanese-American men in Hawaii: the INTERLIPID study. Atherosclerosis. 178: 371-9, 2005.
- 155. Demonty I, Chan YM, Pelled D and Jones PJ: Fish-oil esters of plant sterols improve the lipid profile of dyslipidemic subjects more than do fish-oil or sunflower oil esters of plant sterols. Am J Clin Nutr. 84: 1534-42, 2006.
- 156. Engler MM, Engler MB, Malloy MJ, Paul SM, Kulkarni KR and Mietus-Snyder ML: Effect of docosahexaenoic acid on lipoprotein subclasses in hyperlipidemic children (the EARLY study). Am J Cardiol. 95: 869-71, 2005.
- 157. Geppert J, Kraft V, Demmelmair H and Koletzko B: Docosahexaenoic acid supplementation in vegetarians effectively increases Omega-3 Index: a randomized trial. Lipids. 40: 807-14, 2005.
- 158. Weintraub MS, Zechner R, Brown A, Eisenberg S and Breslow JL: Dietary polyunsaturated fats of the W-6 and W-3 series reduce postprandial lipoprotein levels. Chronic and acute effects of fat saturation on postprandial lipoprotein metabolism. J Clin Invest. 82: 1884-93, 1988.
- 159. Stuglin C and Prasad K: Effect of flaxseed consumption on blood pressure, serum lipids, hemopoietic system and liver and kidney enzymes in healthy humans. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther. 10: 23-7, 2005.
- 160. Krey G, Braissant O, L'Horset F, Kalkhoven E, Perroud M, Parker MG and Wahli W: Fatty acids, eicosanoids, and hypolipidemic agents identified as ligands of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors by coactivator-dependent receptor ligand assay. Mol Endocrinol. 11: 779-91, 1997.
- 161. Park Y and Harris WS: Omega-3 fatty acid supplementation accelerates chylomicron triglyceride clearance. J Lipid Res. 44: 455-63, 2003.
- 162. Jump DB and Clarke SD: Regulation of gene expression by dietary fat. Annu Rev Nutr. 19: 63-90, 1999.
- 163. Dallongeville J, Bauge E, Tailleux A, Peters JM, Gonzalez FJ, Fruchart JC and Staels B: Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha is not rate-limiting for the lipoprotein-lowering action of fish oil. J Biol Chem. 276: 4634-9, 2001.
- 164. Wong S, Reardon M and Nestel P: Reduced triglyceride formation from long-chain polyenoic fatty acids in rat hepatocytes. Metabolism. 34: 900-5, 1985.
- 165. Weber P and Raederstorff D: Triglyceride-lowering effect of omega-3 LC-polyunsaturated fatty acids--a review. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 10: 28-37, 2000.
- 166. Halminski MA, Marsh JB and Harrison EH: Differential effects of fish oil, safflower oil and palm oil on fatty acid oxidation and glycerolipid synthesis in rat liver. J Nutr. 121: 1554-61, 1991.
- 167. Gronn M, Christensen E, Hagve TA and Christophersen BO: Effects of dietary purified eicosapentaenoic acid (20:5 (n-3)) and docosahexaenoic acid (22:6(n-3)) on fatty acid desaturation and oxidation in isolated rat liver cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1125: 35-43, 1992.
- 168. Willumsen N, Skorve J, Hexeberg S, Rustan AC and Berge RK: The hypotriglyceridemic effect of eicosapentaenoic acid in rats is reflected in increased mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation followed by diminished lipogenesis. Lipids. 28: 683-90, 1993.
- 169. Nossen JO, Rustan AC, Gloppestad SH, Malbakken S and Drevon CA: Eicosapentaenoic acid inhibits synthesis and secretion of triacylglycerols by cultured rat hepatocytes. Biochim Biophys Acta. 879: 56-65, 1986.

- 170. Westphal S, Orth M, Ambrosch A, Osmundsen K and Luley C: Postprandial chylomicrons and VLDLs in severe hypertriacylglycerolemia are lowered more effectively than are chylomicron remnants after treatment with n-3 fatty acids. Am J Clin Nutr. 71: 914-20, 2000.
- 171. Froyland L, Madsen L, Vaagenes H, Totland GK, Auwerx J, Kryvi H, Staels B and Berge RK: Mitochondrion is the principal target for nutritional and pharmacological control of triglyceride metabolism. J Lipid Res. 38: 1851-8, 1997.
- 172. Ovide-Bordeaux S and Grynberg A: Docosahexaenoic acid affects insulin deficiency- and insulin resistance-induced alterations in cardiac mitochondria. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 286: R519-27, 2004.
- 173. Guo W, Xie W, Lei T and Hamilton JA: Eicosapentaenoic acid, but not oleic acid, stimulates beta-oxidation in adipocytes. Lipids. 40: 815-21, 2005.
- 174. Staels B, Dallongeville J, Auwerx J, Schoonjans K, Leitersdorf E and Fruchart JC: Mechanism of action of fibrates on lipid and lipoprotein metabolism. Circulation. 98: 2088-93, 1998.
- 175. Despres JP, Lemieux I and Robins SJ: Role of fibric acid derivatives in the management of risk factors for coronary heart disease. Drugs. 64: 2177-98, 2004.
- 176. Davidson MH: Mechanisms for the hypotriglyceridemic effect of marine omega-3 fatty acids. Am J Cardiol. 98: 27i-33i, 2006.
- 177. Nordoy A, Hansen JB, Brox J and Svensson B: Effects of atorvastatin and omega-3 fatty acids on LDL subfractions and postprandial hyperlipemia in patients with combined hyperlipemia. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 11: 7-16, 2001.
- 178. Koba S and Sasaki J: Treatment of hyperlipidemia from Japanese evidence. J Atheroscler Thromb. 13: 267-80, 2006.
- 179. Schwartz SA, Hernandez A and Mark Evers B: The role of NF-kappaB/lkappaB proteins in cancer: implications for novel treatment strategies. Surg Oncol. 8: 143-53, 1999.
- 180. Novak TE, Babcock TA, Jho DH, Helton WS and Espat NJ: NF-kappa B inhibition by omega -3 fatty acids modulates LPS-stimulated macrophage TNF-alpha transcription. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 284: L84-9, 2003.
- 181. Ohata T, Fukuda K, Takahashi M, Sugimura T and Wakabayashi K: Suppression of nitric oxide production in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated macrophage cells by omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Jpn J Cancer Res. 88: 234-7, 1997.
- 182. Khair-El-Din T, Sicher SC, Vazquez MA, Chung GW, Stallworth KA, Kitamura K, Miller RT and Lu CY: Transcription of the murine iNOS gene is inhibited by docosahexaenoic acid, a major constituent of fetal and neonatal sera as well as fish oils. J Exp Med. 183: 1241-6, 1996.
- 183. Lala PK and Chakraborty C: Role of nitric oxide in carcinogenesis and tumour progression. Lancet Oncol. 2: 149-56, 2001.
- 184. Mayer K, Meyer S, Reinholz-Muhly M, Maus U, Merfels M, Lohmeyer J, Grimminger F and Seeger W: Short-time infusion of fish oil-based lipid emulsions, approved for parenteral nutrition, reduces monocyte proinflammatory cytokine generation and adhesive interaction with endothelium in humans. J Immunol. 171: 4837-43, 2003.
- 185. Fujioka S, Hamazaki K, Itomura M, Huan M, Nishizawa H, Sawazaki S, Kitajima I and Hamazaki T: The effects of eicosapentaenoic acid-fortified food on inflammatory markers in healthy subjects--A randomized, placebocontrolled, double-blind study. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo). 52: 261-5, 2006.
- 186. Hill A, Worthley C, Murphy K, Buckley J, Ferrante A and Howe P: Omega-3 fatty acid supplementation and regular moderate exercise: differential effects

- of a combined intervention on neutrophil function. Br J Nutr. 98: 300-309, 2007.
- 187. Bagga D, Wang L, Farias-Eisner R, Glaspy JA and Reddy ST: Differential effects of prostaglandin derived from omega-6 and omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on COX-2 expression and IL-6 secretion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 100: 1751-6, 2003.
- 188. Massaro M, Habib A, Lubrano L, Del Turco S, Lazzerini G, Bourcier T, Weksler BB and De Caterina R: The omega-3 fatty acid docosahexaenoate attenuates endothelial cyclooxygenase-2 induction through both NADP(H) oxidase and PKC epsilon inhibition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 103: 15184-9, 2006.
- 189. Considine RV, Sinha MK, Heiman ML, Kriauciunas A, Stephens TW, Nyce MR, Ohannesian JP, Marco CC, McKee LJ, Bauer TL *et al.*: Serum immunoreactive-leptin concentrations in normal-weight and obese humans. N Engl J Med. 334: 292-5, 1996.
- 190. Soderberg S, Ahren B, Stegmayr B, Johnson O, Wiklund PG, Weinehall L, Hallmans G and Olsson T: Leptin is a risk marker for first-ever hemorrhagic stroke in a population-based cohort. Stroke. 30: 328-37, 1999.
- 191. Soderberg S, Ahren B, Jansson JH, Johnson O, Hallmans G, Asplund K and Olsson T: Leptin is associated with increased risk of myocardial infarction. J Intern Med. 246: 409-18, 1999.
- 192. Wallace AM, McMahon AD, Packard CJ, Kelly A, Shepherd J, Gaw A and Sattar N: Plasma leptin and the risk of cardiovascular disease in the west of Scotland coronary prevention study (WOSCOPS). Circulation. 104: 3052-6, 2001.
- 193. Raclot T, Groscolas R, Langin D and Ferre P: Site-specific regulation of gene expression by n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in rat white adipose tissues. J Lipid Res. 38: 1963-72, 1997.
- 194. Winnicki M, Somers VK, Accurso V, Phillips BG, Puato M, Palatini P and Pauletto P: Fish-rich diet, leptin, and body mass. Circulation. 106: 289-91, 2002.
- 195. Iacoviello L, Amore C, De Curtis A, Tacconi MT, de Gaetano G, Cerletti C and Donati MB: Modulation of fibrinolytic response to venous occlusion in humans by a combination of low-dose aspirin and n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Arterioscler Thromb. 12: 1191-7, 1992.
- 196. al-Harbi MM, Islam MW, al-Shabanah OA and al-Gharably NM: Effect of acute administration of fish oil (omega-3 marine triglyceride) on gastric ulceration and secretion induced by various ulcerogenic and necrotizing agents in rats. Food Chem Toxicol. 33: 553-8, 1995.
- 197. de Lorgeril M and Salen P: Alpha-linolenic acid and coronary heart disease. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 14: 162-9, 2004.
- 198. Djousse L, Folsom AR, Province MA, Hunt SC and Ellison RC: Dietary linolenic acid and carotid atherosclerosis: the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Family Heart Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 77: 819-25, 2003.
- 199. Brouwer IA, Katan MB and Zock PL: Dietary alpha-linolenic acid is associated with reduced risk of fatal coronary heart disease, but increased prostate cancer risk: a meta-analysis. J Nutr. 134: 919-22, 2004.
- 200. Albert CM, Oh K, Whang W, Manson JE, Chae CU, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC and Hu FB: Dietary alpha-linolenic acid intake and risk of sudden cardiac death and coronary heart disease. Circulation. 112: 3232-8, 2005.
- Leren P: The effect of plasma-cholesterol-lowering diet in male survivors of myocardial infarction. A controlled clinical trial. Bull N Y Acad Med. 44: 1012-20, 1968.
- 202. Natvig H, Borchgrevink CF, Dedichen J, Owren PA, Schiotz EH and Westlund K: A controlled trial of the effect of linolenic acid on incidence of coronary

- heart disease. The Norwegian vegetable oil experiment of 1965-66. Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl. 105: 1-20, 1968.
- 203. Research Committee to the Medical Research Council: Controlled trial of soya-bean oil in myocardial infarction. Lancet. 2: 693-9, 1968.
- 204. de Lorgeril M, Salen P, Martin JL, Monjaud I, Boucher P and Mamelle N: Mediterranean dietary pattern in a randomized trial: prolonged survival and possible reduced cancer rate. Arch Intern Med. 158: 1181-7, 1998.
- 205. Bemelmans WJ, Lefrandt JD, Feskens EJ, van Haelst PL, Broer J, Meyboom-de Jong B, May JF, Tervaert JW and Smit AJ: Increased alpha-linolenic acid intake lowers C-reactive protein, but has no effect on markers of atherosclerosis. Eur J Clin Nutr. 58: 1083-9, 2004.
- 206. Sinclair AJ, Johnson L, O'Dea K and Holman RT: Diets rich in lean beef increase arachidonic acid and long-chain omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acid levels in plasma phospholipids. Lipids. 29: 337-43, 1994.
- 207. Rissanen T, Voutilainen S, Nyyssonen K, Lakka TA and Salonen JT: Fish oilderived fatty acids, docosahexaenoic acid and docosapentaenoic acid, and the risk of acute coronary events: the Kuopio ischaemic heart disease risk factor study. Circulation. 102: 2677-9, 2000.
- 208. Simon JA, Hodgkins ML, Browner WS, Neuhaus JM, Bernert JT, Jr. and Hulley SB: Serum fatty acids and the risk of coronary heart disease. Am J Epidemiol. 142: 469-76, 1995.
- 209. Bonefeld-Jorgensen EC, Moller SM and Hansen JC: Modulation of atherosclerotic risk factors by seal oil: a preliminary assessment. Int J Circumpolar Health. 60: 25-33, 2001.
- 210. Akiba S, Murata T, Kitatani K and Sato T: Involvement of lipoxygenase pathway in docosapentaenoic acid-induced inhibition of platelet aggregation. Biol Pharm Bull. 23: 1293-7, 2000.
- 211. Tsuji M, Murota SI and Morita I: Docosapentaenoic acid (22:5, n-3) suppressed tube-forming activity in endothelial cells induced by vascular endothelial growth factor. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids. 68: 337-42. 2003.
- 212. O'Reilly MS, Holmgren L, Shing Y, Chen C, Rosenthal RA, Moses M, Lane WS, Cao Y, Sage EH and Folkman J: Angiostatin: a novel angiogenesis inhibitor that mediates the suppression of metastases by a Lewis lung carcinoma. Cell. 79: 315-28, 1994.
- 213. The Cancer Council of New South Wales: Health Professionals Summary.

 Omega-3 fatty acids, fish and cancer prevention.

 http://www.cancercouncil.com.au/html/healthprofessionals/nutrition_physical/downloads/omega3_hp_summary.pdf. Sydney, The Cancer Council, May 2006
- 214. Larsson SC, Kumlin M, Ingelman-Sundberg M and Wolk A: Dietary long-chain n-3 fatty acids for the prevention of cancer: a review of potential mechanisms. Am J Clin Nutr. 79: 935-45, 2004.
- 215. Ge Y, Chen Z, Kang ZB, Cluette-Brown J, Laposata M and Kang JX: Effects of adenoviral gene transfer of C. elegans n-3 fatty acid desaturase on the lipid profile and growth of human breast cancer cells. Anticancer Res. 22: 537-43, 2002.
- 216. Leitzmann MF, Stampfer MJ, Michaud DS, Augustsson K, Colditz GC, Willett WC and Giovannucci EL: Dietary intake of n-3 and n-6 fatty acids and the risk of prostate cancer. Am J Clin Nutr. 80: 204-16, 2004.
- 217. Volker D and Garg M: Dietary n-3 fatty acid supplementation in rheumatoid arthritis-mechanisms, clinical outcomes, controversies and future directions. Clin Biochem Nutr. 20: 83-97, 1996.
- 218. Cleland LG, James MJ and Proudman SM: Omega-6/omega-3 fatty acids and arthritis. World Rev Nutr Diet. 92: 152-68, 2003.

- 219. James MJ, Proudman SM and Cleland LG: Dietary n-3 fats as adjunctive therapy in a prototypic inflammatory disease: issues and obstacles for use in rheumatoid arthritis. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids. 68: 399-405, 2003.
- 220. MacLean CH, Mojica WA, Morton SC, Pencharz J, Hasenfeld Garland R, Tu W, Newberry SJ, Jungvig LK, Grossman J, Khanna P et al.: Effects of omega-3 fatty acids on lipids and glycemic control in type II diabetes and the metabolic syndrome and on inflammatory bowel disease, rheumatoid arthritis, renal disease, systemic lupus erythematosus, and osteoporosis. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Summ): 1-4, 2004.
- 221. Cleland LG and James MJ: Fish oil and rheumatoid arthritis: antiinflammatory and collateral health benefits. J Rheumatol. 27: 2305-7, 2000.
- 222. Kremer JM, Bigauoette J, Michalek AV, Timchalk MA, Lininger L, Rynes RI, Huyck C, Zieminski J and Bartholomew LE: Effects of manipulation of dietary fatty acids on clinical manifestations of rheumatoid arthritis. Lancet. 1: 184-7, 1985.
- 223. Cleland LG, French JK, Betts WH, Murphy GA and Elliott MJ: Clinical and biochemical effects of dietary fish oil supplements in rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol. 15: 1471-5, 1988.
- 224. Johnson EJ and Schaefer EJ: Potential role of dietary n-3 fatty acids in the prevention of dementia and macular degeneration. Am J Clin Nutr. 83: 1494S-1498S, 2006.
- 225. Suzuki H, Morikawa Y and Takahashi H: Effect of DHA oil supplementation on intelligence and visual acuity in the elderly. World Rev Nutr Diet. 88: 68-71, 2001.
- 226. Frasure-Smith N, Lesperance F and Julien P: Major depression is associated with lower omega-3 fatty acid levels in patients with recent acute coronary syndromes. Biol Psychiatry. 55: 891-6, 2004.
- 227. Mamalakis G, Kalogeropoulos N, Andrikopoulos N, Hatzis C, Kromhout D, Moschandreas J and Kafatos A: Depression and long chain n-3 fatty acids in adipose tissue in adults from Crete. Eur J Clin Nutr. 60: 882-8, 2006.
- 228. Food Standards Australia New Zealand: Food Safety Standards. Chapter 3 in Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code. Available from URL: http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/ srcfiles/FSC Standard 3 1 1 Interp & A pplic v88.pdf Canberra, 2008.
- 229. Sumner J and Ross T: A semi-quantitative seafood safety risk assessment. Int J Food Microbiol. 77: 55-9, 2002.
- 230. Lehane L and Lewis RJ: Ciguatera: recent advances but the risk remains. Int J Food Microbiol. 61: 91-125, 2000.
- 231. Fenner PJ, Lewis RJ, Williamson JA and Williams ML: A Queensland family with ciguatera after eating coral trout. Med J Aust. 166: 473-5, 1997.
- 232. Food Standards Australia New Zealand: Listeria and Pregnancy. http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/newsroom/factsheets/factsheets2001/listeriaandpregnancy630.cfm. Canberra, FSANZ, 2001, vol. Dec 2001.
- 233. National Research Council: Toxicological Effects of Methylmercury. Washington DC, National Academy Press, 2000.
- 234. Joint FAO/WHO expert committee on food additives: Sixty-first meeting of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA). Summary and conclusions, in Organization FaAOotUNWH. Rome, 10-19 June 2003.
- 235. Kales SN and Goldman RH: Mercury exposure: current concepts, controversies, and a clinic's experience. J Occup Environ Med. 44: 143-54, 2002.
- 236. Lyle J: Mercury in Shark from Northern Territory Waters. Fishery Report 12/2. Darwin, NT Department of Primary Production, 1984.

- 237. Mitchell JW, Kjellstrom TE and Reeves RL: Mercury in takeaway fish in New Zealand. N Z Med J. 95: 112-4, 1982.
- 238. McCurry J: Japan remembers Minamata. Lancet. 367: 99-100, 2006.
- 239. National Health and Medical Research Council: Methylmercury in fish effects on human health. Canberra, AGPS, Nov 1972.
- 240. McDonall V and Grant N: FINS Case Study Mercury in Shark. FRDC Project No. 96/383. Sydney, Firecrest Publications, 1997, pp 7-10.
- 241. Food Standards Australia New Zealand: Mercury in fish: fact sheet. www.foodstandards.gov.au/_srcfiles/FS_Mercury_in_fish_final.pdf. Canberra, FSANZ, March 2004.
- 242. Yasutake A, Matsumoto M, Yamaguchi M and Hachiya N: Current hair mercury levels in Japanese: survey in five districts. Tohoku J Exp Med. 199: 161-9, 2003.
- 243. Japanese Ministry of Health. Labour and Welfare:

 "薬事・食品衛生審議会食品衛生分科会乳肉水産食品・毒性合同部会(平成 1 5 年 6 月 3 日開催)の検討結果概要等について" (*Medicine & Food Hygiene Conference. Food Hygiene sub-panel. Milk, Meat, Marine products & Poisonous foods Combined sectional meeting (Opened on June 3rd 2003) Examination, Results, Summary etc.).
- 244. Bolger PM and Schwetz BA: Mercury and health. N Engl J Med. 347: 1735-6, 2002.
- 245. Kelly L: Principal Scientist of the FSANZ Chemical Safety Section. Personal Communication to Colguboun, D, 2004.
- 246. Weil M, Bressler J, Parsons P, Bolla K, Glass T and Schwartz B: Blood mercury levels and neurobehavioral function. JAMA. 293: 1875-82, 2005.
- 247. National Academies of Science: Toxicological Effects of Methylmercury. Washington DC, National Research Council, 2000.
- 248. Rice DC, Schoeny R and Mahaffey K: Methods and rationale for derivation of a reference dose for methylmercury by the U.S. EPA. Risk Anal. 23: 107-15, 2003.
- 249. Myers GJ, Davidson PW, Cox C, Shamlaye CF, Palumbo D, Cernichiari E, Sloane-Reeves J, Wilding GE, Kost J, Huang LS *et al.*: Prenatal methylmercury exposure from ocean fish consumption in the Seychelles child development study. Lancet. 361: 1686-92, 2003.
- 250. Murata K, Weihe P, Renzoni A, Debes F, Vasconcelos R, Zino F, Araki S, Jorgensen PJ, White RF and Grandjean P: Delayed evoked potentials in children exposed to methylmercury from seafood. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 21: 343-8, 1999.
- 251. Kjellstrom T, Kennedy P, Wallis S and Mantell C: Physical and mental development of children with prenatal exposure to mercury from fish. Stage 1: Preliminary tests at age 4. Report 3080. Solna, Sweden, National Swedish Environmental Protection Board, 1986.
- 252. Kjellstrom T, Kennedy S, Wallis S, Stewart A, Friberg L and Lind B: Physical and mental development of children with prenatal exposure to mercury from fish. Stage 2: Inteviews and psychological tests at age 6. Report No 3642. Solna, Sweden, National Swedish Environmental Protection Board, 1989.
- 253. Davidson PW, Myers GJ, Cox C, Axtell C, Shamlaye C, Sloane-Reeves J, Cernichiari E, Needham L, Choi A, Wang Y *et al.*: Effects of prenatal and postnatal methylmercury exposure from fish consumption on neurodevelopment: outcomes at 66 months of age in the Seychelles Child Development Study. JAMA. 280: 701-7, 1998.
- 254. Hites RA, Foran JA, Carpenter DO, Hamilton MC, Knuth BA and Schwager SJ: Global assessment of organic contaminants in farmed salmon. Science. 303: 226-9, 2004.

- 255. Rembold CM: The health benefits of eating salmon. Science. 305: 475; author reply 475, 2004.
- 256. Salonen JT, Seppanen K, Nyyssonen K, Korpela H, Kauhanen J, Kantola M, Tuomilehto J, Esterbauer H, Tatzber F and Salonen R: Intake of mercury from fish, lipid peroxidation, and the risk of myocardial infarction and coronary, cardiovascular, and any death in eastern Finnish men. Circulation. 91: 645-55, 1995.
- 257. Salonen JT, Seppanen K, Lakka TA, Salonen R and Kaplan GA: Mercury accumulation and accelerated progression of carotid atherosclerosis: a population-based prospective 4-year follow-up study in men in eastern Finland. Atherosclerosis. 148: 265-73, 2000.
- 258. Guallar E, Sanz-Gallardo MI, van't Veer P, Bode P, Aro A, Gomez-Aracena J, Kark JD, Riemersma RA, Martin-Moreno JM and Kok FJ: Mercury, fish oils, and the risk of myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med. 347: 1747-54, 2002.
- 259. Foran SE, Flood JG and Lewandrowski KB: Measurement of mercury levels in concentrated over-the-counter fish oil preparations: is fish oil healthier than fish? Arch Pathol Lab Med. 127: 1603-5, 2003.
- 260. Schantz SL, Widholm JJ and Rice DC: Effects of PCB exposure on neuropsychological function in children. Environ Health Perspect. 111: 357-576, 2003.
- 261. Malisch R and van Leeuwen F: Results of the WHO-coordinated exposure study on the levels of PCBs, PCDDs and PCDFs in human milk.

 Organohalogen Compounds. 64: 140-3, 2003.
- 262. Easton MD, Luszniak D and Von der GE: Preliminary examination of contaminant loadings in farmed salmon, wild salmon and commercial salmon feed. Chemosphere. 46: 1053-74, 2002.
- 263. Bethune C, Seierstad SL, Seljeflot I, Johansen O, Arnesen H, Meltzer HM, Rosenlund G, Froyland L and Lundebye AK: Dietary intake of differently fed salmon: a preliminary study on contaminants. Eur J Clin Invest. 36: 193-201, 2006.
- 264. Padula D, Madigan T, Kiermeier A, Daughtry B and Pointon A: Levels of dioxin (PCDD/F) and PCBs in a random sample of Australian aquacultureproduced Southern Bluefin Tuna. Organohalogen Compounds. 66: 2097-2102, 2004.
- 265. Padula D, Madigan T, Kiermeier A, Daughtry B and Pointon A: A Review of Residues in Australian Commercially Farmed and Wild caught Southern Bluefin Tuna (Thunnus maccoyii) in 2004, in South Australia Research and Development Institute: *Food Safety Research Program,* Feb 2005.
- 266. Padula D, Madigan T, Kiermeier A, Daughtry B and Pointon A: Identification and management of potential food safety issues in aquaculture-produced Yellowtail Kingfish (Seriola Ialandi). FRDC Project No. 2003/229, South Australian Research and Development Institute, May 2005.
- 267. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe: Summary report. Consultation on tolerable daily intake from food of PCDDs and PCDFs. Bilthoven, Netherlands, 4-7 December 1990. Copenhagen, WHO Regional Office for Europe, 1991.
- 268. Kawashima A, Iwakiri R and Honda K: Experimental study on the removal of dioxins and coplanar polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBS) from fish oil. J Agric Food Chem. 54: 10294-9, 2006.
- 269. Gillespie NC, Lewis RJ, Pearn JH, Bourke AT, Holmes MJ, Bourke JB and Shields WJ: Ciguatera in Australia. Occurrence, clinical features, pathophysiology and management. Med J Aust. 145: 584-90, 1986.
- 270. Pearn J: Neurology of ciguatera. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 70: 4-8, 2001.

- 271. Corraze G and Kaushik S: Les lipides des poissons marins et d'eau douce. OCL. 6, 1999.
- 272. Henderson RJ and Tocher DR: The lipid composition and biochemistry of freshwater fish. Prog Lipid Res. 26: 281-347, 1987.
- 273. Bandarra N, Batista I, Nunes M, Empis J and Christie W: Seasonal changes in lipid composition of sardine (Sardina pilchardus). J Food Sci. 62: 40-2, 1997.
- 274. Cahu C, Salen P and de Lorgeril M: Farmed and wild fish in the prevention of cardiovascular diseases: assessing possible differences in lipid nutritional values. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 14: 34-41, 2004.
- 275. Mooney B, Nichols P and Elliott N: Seafood the Good Food II. Oil Profiles for Further Australian Seafoods and Influencing Factors. FRDC, 2002.
- 276. Seierstad SL, Seljeflot I, Johansen O, Hansen R, Haugen M, Rosenlund G, Froyland L and Arnesen H: Dietary intake of differently fed salmon; the influence on markers of human atherosclerosis. Eur J Clin Invest. 35: 52-9, 2005.
- 277. Nichols P, Brock M, Dunstan G, Bransden M, Goldsmid R and Battaglene S: Potential new Australian farmed seafood source of omega-3 oils. Food Australia. 57: 295-301, 2005.
- 278. Miller MR, Nichols PD and Carter CG: Replacement of dietary fish oil for Atlantic salmon parr (Salmo salar L.) with a stearidonic acid containing oil has no effect on omega-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid concentrations. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol. 146: 197-206, 2007.
- 279. Myers RA and Worm B: Rapid worldwide depletion of predatory fish communities. Nature. 423: 280-3, 2003.
- 280. McMichael AJ and Butler CD: Fish, health, and sustainability. Am J Prev Med. 29: 322-3, 2005.
- 281. Willet W: Fish: Balancing health risks and benefits. Am J Prev Med. 29: 320-1, 2005.
- 282. Naylor RL, Goldburg RJ, Primavera JH, Kautsky N, Beveridge MC, Clay J, Folke C, Lubchenco J, Mooney H and Troell M: Effect of aquaculture on world fish supplies. Nature. 405: 1017-24, 2000.
- 283. Metcalf RG, James MJ, Mantzioris E and Cleland LG: A practical approach to increasing intakes of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids: use of novel foods enriched with n-3 fats. Eur J Clin Nutr. 57: 1605-12, 2003.
- 284. Howe P, Downing J, Grenyer B, Grigonis-Deane E and Bryden W: Tuna fishmeal as a source of docosahexaenoic acid for omega-3 enrichment of pork and chicken meat and eggs. Lipids. 37: 1067-76, 2002.
- 285. Murphy K, Mansour J, Patch C, Mori TA, Meyer B, Tapsell L, Noakes M, Clifton P, Puddey IB, Beilin LJ *et al.*: Impact of foods enriched with n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids on erythrocyte n-3 levels and cardiovascular risk factors. Br J Nutr. 97: 749-57, 2007.
- 286. Mantzioris E, Cleland LG, Gibson RA, Neumann MA, Demasi M and James MJ: Biochemical effects of a diet containing foods enriched with n-3 fatty acids. Am J Clin Nutr. 72: 42-8, 2000.
- 287. Bovet P, Faeh D, Madeleine G, Viswanathan B and Paccaud F: Decrease in blood triglycerides associated with the consumption of eggs of hens fed with food supplemented with fish oil. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 17: 280-7, 2007.
- 288. Conquer JA and Holub BJ: Supplementation with an algae source of docosahexaenoic acid increases (n-3) fatty acid status and alters selected risk factors for heart disease in vegetarian subjects. J Nutr. 126: 3032-9, 1996.
- 289. Napier J and Sayanova O: The production of very-long-chain PUFA biosynthesis in transgenic plants: towards a sustainable source of fish oils. Proc Nutr Soc. 64: 387-393, 2005.

- 290. Opsahl-Ferstad H-G, Rudi H, Ruyter B and Refstie S: Biotechnological approaches to modify rapeseed oil compositions for applications in aquaculture. Plant Sci 165: 349-57, 2003.
- 291. Robert S, Singh S, Zhou X-R, Petrie J, Blackburn S, Mansour P, Nichols P, Liu Q and Green A: Metabolic engineering of Arabidopsis to produce nutritionally important DHA in seed oil. Func Plant Biol. 32: 1-7, 2005.
- 292. Howe P, Meyer B, Record S and Baghurst K: Unpublished observations.
- 293. Simopoulos AP, Leaf A and Salem N, Jr.: Workshop on the Essentiality of and Recommended Dietary Intakes for Omega-6 and Omega-3 Fatty Acids. J Am Coll Nutr. 18: 487-9, 1999.
- 294. Dolecek TA: Epidemiological evidence of relationships between dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids and mortality in the multiple risk factor intervention trial. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 200: 177-82, 1992.
- 295. Food and Nutrition Board: *Dietary Reference Intakes for Energy, Carbohydrate, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protein, and Amino Acids (Macronutrients).* Washington, DC, The National Academies Press, 2005.
- 296. Albert CM, Ma J, Rifai N, Stampfer MJ and Ridker PM: Prospective study of C-reactive protein, homocysteine, and plasma lipid levels as predictors of sudden cardiac death. Circulation. 105: 2595-9, 2002.
- 297. Harris WS and Von Schacky C: The Omega-3 Index: a new risk factor for death from coronary heart disease? Prev Med. 39: 212-20, 2004.
- 298. National Cholesterol Education Program Expert Panel: Detection, Evaluation and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III), National Institutes of Health,, May 2001.
- 299. Sands SA, Reid KJ, Windsor SL and Harris WS: The impact of age, body mass index, and fish intake on the EPA and DHA content of human erythrocytes. Lipids. 40: 343-7, 2005.
- 300. National Health and Medical Research Council: A guide to the development, implementation and evaluation of clinical practice guidelines. Canberra, NHMRC, 1999.
- 301. Queensland Health. Environmental Health Branch: Survey of heavy metals in shark and ray flesh. Food surveillance program. Appendix 2, December 1993.
- 302. Health department of Western Australia: Mercury in shark. Food monitoring program. Appendix 1, 1993.
- 303. Turoczy NJ, Laurenson LJ, Allinson G, Nishikawa M, Lambert DF, Smith C, Cottier JP, Irvine SB and Stagnitti F: Observations on metal concentrations in three species of shark (Deania calcea, Centroscymnus crepidater, and Centroscymnus owstoni) from southeastern Australian waters. J Agric Food Chem. 48: 4357-64, 2000.
- 304. Nichols P, Virtue P, Mooney B, Elliott N and Yearsley G: *Seafood: The Good Food.* Hobart, CSIRO Marine Research, 1988.
- 305. Queensland Health. Environmental Health Branch: Surveys of metals in canned and bottled seafood. Food surveillance program, 1993.
- 306. Tinggi U, Lee E, Francis R, Olszowy H and Scheelings P: Determination of total mercury in Australian commercial fish: *Queensland Health and Medical Scientific Meeting.* Queensland, 2004.
- 307. Nicholson G, Fabris J and Gibbs C: Mercury in fish from corio bay. Melbourne, Environmental Protection Authority SRS 90/001, 1992.
- 308. United States Environmental Protection Agency: Mercury Study Report to Congress. Vol. IV: An assessment of exposure to mercury in the United States. EPA-452/R-97-006, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards and Office of Research and Development, 1997.
- 309. Sinclair AJ, Dunstan G, Naughton JM, Sangiorski A and O'Dea K: The lipid content and fatty acid composition of commercial marine and freshwater fish

- and molluscs from temperate Australian waters. Aust J Nutr Diet. 49: 77-83, 1992.
- 310. Sinclair AJ, Oon K, Lim L, Li D and Mann N: The omega-3 fatty acid content of canned, smoked and fresh fish in Australia. Aust J Nutr Diet. 55: 77-83, 1998.
- 311. Meyer B, Tsivis E and Howe P: Polyunsaturated fatty acid content of foods: differentiating between long and short chain omega-3 acids. Food Aust. 51: 83-95, 1999.
- 312. Ratnesar S, Tapsell L, Meyer B, Calvert G and Storlien L: Increasing n-3 PUFA intakes by dietetic means: a case study involving normal healthy adults in the Illawarra region of NSW. Aust. J Nutr Diet 57: 98-103, 2000.



For heart health information 1300 36 27 87 www.heartfoundation.org.au